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Dear Shareholder

I am pleased to detail another year of strong growth for CO2 Group. The company is steadfastly committed to servicing the
emerging carbon economy and is continuing to secure new and significant clients that underpin excellent revenue growth.

The election of the Federal Labor Party to the Australian Government has brought about a domestic urgency in meeting the
climate change challenge. Australia has now ratified the Kyoto Protocol and as such adopted binding emission reduction
targets. The Rudd Government’s policy of a Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme (CPRS) commencing in 2010 is a landmark
development for the Australian carbon economy.

To 30th June 2007, the majority of our commercial transactions centred on the NSW Greenhouse Gas Abatement Scheme and
the requirement for greenhouse gas emission reductions as part of State based Environmental Protection Authority project
approvals for major projects. The introduction of the CPRS dramatically escalates client demand to a new level. The release of
the Government’s Green Paper on Emissions Trading confirms the need for over 1,000 companies to consider their greenhouse
gas emissions and meet new reduction targets. Importantly, the paper highlights the role that Kyoto compliant reafforestation
can play and provides critical policy support for our business plan. The level of reduction, the time frames and penalty prices for
non-compliance are all major determinants of the Scheme and we await with great interest the release of the Government’s
proposed approach.

Internationally, a number of market developments continue to point the way to the linkage of domestic schemes and the
nascent international carbon market. The adoption of a carbon trading scheme in New Zealand commencing in 2008 and the
importance of carbon sinks in meeting emission reduction targets highlights the role that carbon sinks will play in assisting
industry and society in transiting to a low carbon economy. The major political parties of the USA are, despite their differences,
galvanised on their commitment to bringing the United States into step with other developed countries and as such, a domestic
cap and trade scheme looks increasingly likely. Trade on the Chicago Climate Exchange has in recent times set record volumes
and prices and continues to trend upwards.

What is clear is that demand for our services will escalate. The known options for abating greenhouse gases are expensive in
comparison to biological sequestration and we are confident that the recognition of biological carbon sinks as a technology will
gain traction. It remains somewhat incongruous that policy makers are committing substantial public funds to yet unproven
and seemingly costly options when energy conservation and carbon sequestration have so much to offer.

During the year we secured Woodside as a major client and we have commenced building a dedicated project for Woodside to
offset the reservoir emissions associated with the Pluto Gas Project. The plantings are based in NSW and Western Australia and
as such we have expanded our operations into Western Australia to meet new and further client requirements in this State.

Other highlights of the 2007/08 financial year include:

• Major project with INPEX Browse, a joint venture between INPEX Browse and Total

• Extension of contract with Eraring Energy to establish additional plantings

• Additional clients entering into “voluntary” plantings

• Further refinement and investment into the intellectual property that underpins the CO2
AUSTRALIA™ Carbon Sequestration Program.

Importantly the organization is continuing to build upon its management and service delivery strengths and is rightfully seen
as the leading carbon sequestration company in Australia.

I look forward to a strong and prosperous year ahead.

Ian Trahar
Chairman
CO2 GROUP LIMITED

CHAIRMAN’S REVIEW
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The landmark carbon offset agreement between CO2 Australia and Woodside during the financial year highlights the
importance of carbon sequestration in meeting the climate change challenge and the potential of the CO2 AUSTRALIA™ Carbon
Sequestration Program to service the emerging carbon economy. Arguably the carbon market in Australia is still in the discovery
stage and as such, the array of new clients secured by CO2 Australia is confirmation of the strategy that underpins the Group’s
business plan.

The 2007/08 financial year has been another successful year whereby the Group has continued to consolidate its position as a
market leader in providing government’s, Australian and international companies with a low cost accredited carbon offset
solution. The Group remains the largest Australian provider of carbon offsets generated by its forest carbon sink program –
using Australian native tree species only.

The company continues to invest in building our intellectual property and expanding the company’s organisational capacity
with the ambition of delivering projects at substantial scale. As such we have expanded our operational facilities into Western
Australia to service our client base and deliver on-ground projects in that state. Furthermore, we have refined our business
systems and invested further into species development, site analysis, information management and carbon inventory and
modelling. Additional accreditations under the NSW Greenhouse Gas Abatement Scheme highlight the competence of CO2
Australia in securing the relevant accreditations which are critical in servicing our contractual obligations.

The financial year also represents an important financial milestone for the company with the achievement of a Net Profit after
Tax of just under $1.6 million.

Other major achievements for the year include:

• Securing new major clients including Qantas, INPEX and the Victorian Government
• The successful creation of Greenhouse Gas Abatement Certificates under the NSW Greenhouse Gas Abatement Scheme
• Expansion of our contract with Eraring Energy

I look forward to an exciting and prosperous year that sees strong company growth. I am confident that we have built an
outstanding management team and are well placed to serve the Australian carbon market.

Andrew William Thorold Grant
Chief Executive Officer

CO2 GROUP LIMITED
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors present their report on the consolidated entity (referred to hereafter as the Group) consisting of CO� Group
Limited and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year ended 30 June �008.

Directors
The following persons were directors of CO� Group Limited during the whole of the financial year and up to the date of this
report:

Ian Norman Trahar

Harley Ronald Whitcombe

Dr Malcolm Brian Hemmerling

Dr Christopher David Mitchell

Andrew William Thorold Grant

Paul Favretto (appointed �8 December �007)

James McAuliffe (resigned �8 December �007)

The Directors of CO� Group Limited appointed Mr Andrew
Grant as the Group’s new Chief Executive Officer (CEO) on �8
July �007.

Dr Mitchell was a non-executive director of CO� Group
Limited until his appointment as an Executive Director on �8
August �008.

Principal activities
The Group’s principal activity during the course of the financial year has been the provision of environmental services primarily
carbon sequestration i.e. the establishment of carbon sinks.

Review of operations
The Group has importantly maintained its various Australian and international accreditations throughout �007/08. These
being, accreditations under the Federal Government’s Greenhouse Friendly™ Program, the NSW Government’s Greenhouse Gas
Abatement Scheme and Chicago Climate Exchange - currently the largest USA carbon market. The Group remains the only
Australian company with all these accreditations.

The Group’s expertise in relation to the various issues surrounding the accreditation process, such as carbon accounting, project
design and risk management was recognised during the �007/08 financial year, with the appointment of the Group’s Chief
Executive Officer, Mr Andrew Grant, to the new global Voluntary Carbon Standard International Expert Review Panel.

During the �007/08 financial year, the Group successfully negotiated and secured up to $�05m of new carbon offset contracts
with a number of major Australian companies and international multinationals. These new carbon offset programs include
contracts with:

• Qantas;

• Woodside Burrup Pty Ltd;

• Inpex Browse Limited - a major joint venture between Inpex Corporation and Total SA; and

• Eraring Energy (a NSW Government owned power utility).

Importantly, these new carbon offset programs are to be undertaken over a number of consecutive planting seasons
(commencing in the current �008 planting season) with the majority of the contracted value being generated prior to the
commencement of planting. Further, all new carbon offset contracts include long-term (up to 50 years) management income
streams for the Group.

The Group has successfully commenced its scaling up of operational capacity with the establishment of two new regional
operational offices in Western Australia and Victoria during the year. These new offices, coupled with our existing two regional
operational offices in NSW, will be used to deliver the current �008 planting program, whereby carbon offset plantings will be
established in 3 of the 4 key planting States within Australia being NSW, WA and Victoria.

During the �007/08 financial year, the Group maintained its strong commitment to research and development. The aim of this
commitment is to further enhance the scientific integrity of the Group’s business strategy which in turn generated significant
intellectual property for the Group as well as enabling the short to medium term scalability of our carbon offset program.

CO2 GROUP L IMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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The recent appointment of Dr Chris Mitchell as an Executive
Director further highlights the Group’s commitment to this
strategy. Dr Mitchell is well respected both domestically and
internationally for his climate change research and in particular
his previous role as Chief Executive Officer at the CRC for
Greenhouse Accounting - which undertook world leading
research on carbon sequestration modelling and other related
issues.

CO� Australia has developed a set of performance criteria
relating to establishing a forest carbon sink and in particular
minimum seedling survival rates during the establishment
phase. In year �, a target of 80% survival of seedlings planted is
aimed for. At the conclusion of each season, a series of survival
counts are undertaken to determine actual survival rates. If the
substantive stocking rate falls below the target rate, additional
plantings are undertaken in the second year to reach the
minimum stocking rate. To date, all plantings undertaken for CO�
Australia clients have fulfilled the performance criteria.

Finally, the Group remains highly confident of the rapidly
emerging mandatory carbon market in Australia, internationally
and in particular the USA. The Carbon Pollution Reduction
Scheme (CPRS) remains on track to be operational in �0�0, with
interim emission reduction targets be to announced towards the
end of �008 along with a long-term target of a 60% reduction by �050. The current chief climate change advisor to the Federal
Labor Government, Professor Garnaut, and policy statements by the previous Federal Government have all supported the need
to recognise early greenhouse gas emission reduction actions by companies and the important role that forest carbon sinks can
play prior to and on commencement of the CPRS.

Given this favourable political climate, the Group is well positioned to capitalise from this new carbon regulated environment
in Australia. The Group remains confident of securing further contracts, as it already has a record number of significant proposals
being considered or negotiated by numerous well known Australian corporates and international companies. All proposals
involve consecutive planting targets over a number of planting seasons with long-term (50 years) income streams attached.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
A number of major convertible preference share holders converted their holdings into fully paid shares raising $3 million during
the financial year.

Matters subsequent to the end of the financial year
Takeover Bid for The Oil Mallee Company of Australia Limited
On �� July �008 Australian Carbon Sinks Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company, announced a conditional cash
takeover offer for The Oil Mallee Company of Australia Limited (OMC). For further information please refer to the ASX
Announcement dated �� July �008

Appointment of new Executive Director
On �8 August �008, the directors of CO� Group appointed Dr Christopher Mitchell as an executive director. Dr Mitchell was
previously a non-executive director of the company.

Except for the matters discussed above, no other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June �008 that has significantly
affected, or may significantly affect:

(a) the Group's operations in future financial years, or

(b) the results of those operations in future financial years, or

(c) the Group's state of affairs in future financial years.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (continued)
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Likely developments and expected results of operations

The Group has continued with the commercial development
of its CO� AUSTRALIA™ Carbon Sequestration Program, with
the commencement of its first planting program in Western
Australia. The Group will continue to look for new
opportunities for its Program as well as investigating other
commercial opportunities in the environmental services
industry.

On-ground planting operations for the current �008 planting
season are well advanced, with planting conditions
extremely favourable for the current season. A large part of
this year’s planting program is being undertaken with
Woodside Burrup Pty Ltd in NSW, however next year
Woodside's plantings will be in WA representing a significant
shift in our operations.

By the end of the �008 planting season, the Group will have
successfully established carbon offset plantings in NSW, WA
and Victoria - 3 of the 4 key planting areas for our Program.

Further information on likely developments in the
operations of the Group and the expected results of
operations have not been included in these financial
statements because the directors believe it would be likely to
result in unreasonable prejudice to the Group.

Brief Overview of Program

CO� Group’s CO� AUSTRALIA™ Carbon Sequestration
Program is unique and offers a low cost solution to meeting
the challenges associated with mitigating the effects of
climate change.

The CO� AUSTRALIA™ Carbon Sequestration Program involves the production of carbon credits from long-term Mallee Eucalypt
plantings. The carbon dioxide absorbed by the growing of trees is permanently removed from the atmosphere and converted
into the biomass of the tree (roots, stems, foliage) through a process known as “carbon sequestration”, with such forestry
projects commonly referred to as carbon sinks. The amount of carbon sequestered can be measured to generate carbon credits
that can be sold to large corporations or government utilities under existing voluntary and mandatory greenhouse gas emission
reduction programs or potential new programs.

Mallee Eucalypts are a tree species indigenous to southern Australia. They are long lived, have a large lignotuber (underground
stem), and rapidly regenerate if the above ground stem is damaged, for example by fire. Mallees can also survive long periods
of drought and are a proven plantation species that thrive in poor soils and low rainfall areas such as the wheat belt regions of
southern Australia where reforestation is required to address one of Australia’s greatest environmental threats - dry land salinity.

Australia faces an increasing impact on its agricultural productivity, water quality and environmental health as a result of dry
land salinity.

The Federal Government has stated that salinity and water conservation are considered to be “two of the most serious resource
management issues threatening Australia’s rural industries, regional communities and our unique environment”. The Council
of Australian Government’s has stated that the total cost of land and water degradation is approximately $3.5 billion per annum.
The National Land and Water Resources Audit estimates that the area of land in Australia with shallow water tables, that is at
risk of being salt affected, is currently 5.7 million hectares and will exceed �7 million hectares by �050 if no action is taken now.

Much of the effort to date to address these significant environmental problems has been by the Federal and State Government’s
funding the reintroduction of deep rooted perennial vegetation systems back into rural landscapes which have been
extensively cleared for agriculture. Funding commitments in these areas total $5.4 billion.

CO2 GROUP L IMITED
DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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Company Performance

As noted earlier in this Report, the Group has implemented and further commercialised its CO� AUSTRALIA™ Carbon
Sequestration Program in NSW, WA, and VIC. Revenue generated during the reporting period was interest received on cash
deposits, agency and management fees generated in relation to the �006 Eraring Energy environmental planting as well as
payments for carbon offset plantings established during the financial year.

The company’s share price has fluctuated during the year as various announcements have been made with respect to new
carbon offset planting contracts, other matters of significance and general market volatility. The directors have during the year
continued to develop the Group’s interest in carbon sinks and expect that the coming financial year may well see revenue from
further operations being generated.

The directors do not believe that they are able to provide any further comment or provide any predictions on the Group’s future
performance without potentially misleading shareholders and the general investment community.

Review of Financial Conditions
The Group is well funded for its current operations with $4.� million in cash reserves as at the year end. Subsequently the Group
has received payment for a large part of next year’s planting program being undertaken with Woodside Burrup Pty Ltd.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS

Ian norman Trahar B.Ec, mBa. chaIrman.

Experience and expertise

Mr Trahar has a resource and finance background. He is a director and significant shareholder of Avatar Industries Limited, an
unlisted public company. Ian is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Other current listed company directorships
None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Avatar Industries Limited (formerly a listed public company, now an unlisted public company).

Special responsibilities
Chairman of the Board.
Member of the audit committee.
Member of remuneration committee.

Interests in shares and options
��6,83�,546 ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.
67,737,796 listed options over ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.



andrEw wIllIam Thorold GranT BSc (honS), Grad dIp BuS mG. ExEcuTIvE dIrEcTor.

Experience and expertise
Mr Grant was the National Head of Ernst and Young’s environmental advisory division and was the lead adviser to the New
South Wales Government in relation to implementing the New South Wales Greenhouse Gas Abatement Scheme. He has over
�0 years experience in broad acre land management and has managed major commercial forestry operations in Victoria. He is
a widely recognised authority on climate change and carbon trading. Andrew has advised many of the major corporations
across Australia on carbon trading and has performed design and audit roles in many carbon trades. He brings significant
executive management experience to the role and his unique combination of commercial, carbon trading and natural resource
management experience make him ideally suited for these critical roles.

Mr Grant was an Independent Director of the Cooperative Research Centre for Greenhouse Accounting. The CRC has been at
the leading edge of carbon sequestration modelling and research. He is also a Director of the Banksia Environmental
Foundation, which runs the Banksia Awards, Australia’s leading Environmental Awards. Mr Grant is chairman of the Port Phillip
Western Port Catchment Management Authority.

Other current listed company directorships
None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
None.

Special responsibilities
Chief Executive Officer - CO� Group Limited.
Managing Director - CO� Australia Limited.

Interests in shares and options
�3,�93,654 options over ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.

harlEy ronald whITcomBE B.BuS, cpa. ExEcuTIvE dIrEcTor.

Experience and expertise
Mr Whitcombe has had many years’ commercial and finance experience, providing company secretarial services to publicly
listed companies. He is a member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Other current listed company directorships
None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
None.

Special responsibilities
Chief Financial Officer of CO� Group Limited & Company Secretary.

Interests in shares and options
7,6�4,677 ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.
4,�45,�57 options over ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.

dr chrISTophEr davId mITchEll phd, BSc (honS). ExEcuTIvE dIrEcTor.

Experience and expertise

Dr Mitchell has had a �0 year involvement in Australian and international climate change research and is currently the
Foundation Director of the Centre for Australian Weather and Climate Research - a partnership between CSIRO and the Bureau
of Meteorology. Dr Mitchell has consulted government and major international companies and has been published in the area
of climate change. Dr Mitchell is also a graduate member of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Other current listed company directorships
None.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (continued)
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dr chrISTophEr davId mITchEll phd, BSc (honS). ExEcuTIvE dIrEcTor. (continued)

Former directorships in last 3 years
None.

Special responsibilities
Member of audit committee until �8 August �008.
Member of remuneration committee.

Interests in shares and options
�,000,000 options over ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.

dr malcolm BrIan hEmmErlInG phd, BSc (honS),dIp T (SEc). FaIcd. non-ExEcuTIvE dIrEcTor.

Experience and expertise
Dr Hemmerling is the Commissioner for Consumer and Business Affairs in Adelaide. He has had extensive experience in
leadership and management positions, having been Chief Executive Officer of the Adelaide City Council, Chairman of the
National Basketball League, Chief Executive Officer for The Sydney Organising Committee for the Olympic Games, Chief
Executive Officer of the Australian Formula One Grand Prix in South Australia and Chief Executive Officer of Bob Jane T-Marts.
Dr Hemmerling has also been the head of the Premier's Cabinet Office in South Australia. Dr Hemmerling is a fellow of the
Australian Institute of Company Directors.

Other current listed company directorships
None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Non-executive director of Avatar Industries Limited since 6 February �00� (now an unlisted public company).

Special responsibilities
Chairman of audit committee.
Member of remuneration committee.

Interests in shares and options
60,000 ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.
�,500,000 options over ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.

paul John FavrETTo ll.B. non-ExEcuTIvE dIrEcTor.

Experience and expertise
Mr Favretto was previously Managing Director of Avatar Industries Limited. Before that Mr Favretto worked for �0 years in the
financial services industry holding senior management positions with Citibank Limited (�976 to �985) and Bankers Trust
Australia Limited (�986 to �994).

Other current listed company directorships
None.

Former directorships in last 3 years
Managing Director of Avatar Industries Limited (now an unlisted public company).

Special responsibilities
Chairman of remuneration committee.

Member of audit committee.

Interests in shares and options
�0,06�,490 ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.
6,008,0�7 options over ordinary shares in CO� Group Limited.
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meetings of committees

Full meetings
of directors audit remuneration

a B a B a B

Ian Norman Trahar 9 �0 3 3 � �
James McAuliffe (resigned �8 December �007) 5 5 - - - -
Harley Ronald Whitcombe �0 �0 - - - -
Dr Malcolm Brian Hemmerling 9 �0 3 3 � �
Dr Christopher David Mitchell 9 �0 3 3 � �
Andrew William Thorold Grant �0 �0 - - - -
Paul John Favretto (appointed �8 December �007) 5 5 � � - -

A = Number of meetings attended
B = Number of meetings held during the time the director held office or was a member of the committee during the year

9

Company secretary
The company secretary is Mr Harley Ronald Whitcombe. Mr Whitcombe was appointed company secretary on �� November
�00�. He has held similar positions with a number of other publicly listed companies. Mr Whitcombe has been a member of CPA
Australia for over �5 years.

Meetings of directors
The numbers of meetings of the company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 30
June �008, and the numbers of meetings attended by each director were:

Remuneration report
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings:

A Principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration

B Details of remuneration

C Service agreements

D Share-based compensation

E Additional information

The information provided in this remuneration report has been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act
�00�.

a principles used to determine the nature and amount of remuneration
The objective of the Group’s executive reward framework is to ensure reward for performance is competitive and appropriate
for the results delivered. The framework aligns executive reward with achievement of strategic objectives and the creation of
value for shareholders, and conforms with market practice for delivery of reward. The Board ensures that executive reward
satisfies the following key criteria for good reward governance practices:

• competitiveness and reasonableness
• acceptability to shareholders
• performance linkage / alignment of executive compensation
• transparency
• capital management.

Alignment to shareholders’ interests:
• attracts and retains high calibre executives.

Alignment to program participants’ interests:
• rewards capability and experience
• provides recognition for contribution.

INFORMATION ON DIRECTORS (continued)
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The Board has established a remuneration committee which provides advice on remuneration and incentive policies and
practices and specific recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for executive directors,
other senior executives and non-executive directors. The Corporate Governance Statement provides further information on the
role of this committee.

Non-executive directors
The shareholders of CO� Group Limited on �6 October �00� approved, for the purposes of the ASX Listing Rules and CO�
Group’s Constitution, maximum aggregate directors’ fees of $�50,000, with such fees to be allocated to the directors as the
board of directors may determine.

The Board determines the remuneration payable to the non-executive directors. The remuneration covers the non-executive
directors for both their work as a director and as a member of any committees. The Board has previously recommended to
shareholders at an Annual General Meeting that options be issued to two non-executive directors as part of their remuneration
package in lieu of higher cash remuneration in order to preserve the consolidated entity’s cash resources and reduce ongoing
costs.

The Board at the time of appointing the two non-executive directors assessed the remuneration packages payable to its non-
executive directors with those paid to non-executive directors with comparable expertise, experience and duties in companies
of comparable size and stage of development as the consolidated entity. Based on this assessment, it was the Board’s view that
the remuneration package, including the number of options to be issued to Dr Hemmerling and Dr Mitchell, is appropriate and
within acceptable remuneration levels for non-executive directors.

The Board considered at the time that whilst in development phase it was, and continues to be, focused on preserving its cash
flows. The decision to issue the options to Dr Hemmerling and Dr Mitchell in lieu of a higher cash director’s fee is consistent with
this objective.

To retain persons of the quality and experience of Dr Hemmerling and Dr Mitchell, the Board believes that it was appropriate to
issue the options.

The options were issued at an exercise price which represented a significant premium to the market price at the time of issue.
Accordingly to benefit from the options, the company’s share price must exceed the exercise price before the options expire.
The options are not transferable without Board approval and so it is unlikely any value can be obtained by the holders of the
options without exercising the options.

The Remuneration Committee determines the remuneration of all non-executive directors, none of whom have service
contracts with the company.

Dr Mitchell became an executive director of the company on �8 August �008.

B details of remuneration
Amounts of remuneration
Details of the remuneration of the directors, the key management personnel of the Group (as defined in AASB ��4 Related Party
Disclosures) of CO� Group Limited and the Group are set out in the following tables.

The key management personnel of CO� Group Limited includes the directors as listed below:

• Ian Norman Trahar (Chairman and Executive Director)
• Andrew William Thorold Grant (Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director)
• Harley Ronald Whitcombe (Director and Company Secretary)
• Dr Christopher David Mitchell (Non-executive Director until his appointment as Executive Director on �8 August �008)
• Dr Malcolm Brian Hemmerling (Non-executive Director)
• J McAuliffe (Executive Director until his resignation on �8 December �007)
• Paul John Favretto (Non-executive director from �8 December �007)

In addition to the directors the following executives that report directly to the Chief Executive Officer are key management
personnel:

• Aaron Soanes (Director and General Manager of Operations, CO� Australia Limited)
• Ashley Shilkin (Chief Financial Officer, CO� Australia Limited)
• Dr James Bulinski (Director, CO� Australia Limited)

REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)
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Key management personnel and other executives of the Group

2008 Short-term employee benefits post- long- Share-
employment term based

benefits benefits payments

cash cash non other Super- long Termination options Total
salary and bonus* monetary annuation service benefits

name fees benefits leave
$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors
M Hemmerling - - - - 40,775 - - - 40,775
C Mitchell 33,000 - - - �,970 - - - 35,970
P Favretto (appointed �8
December �007) �7,875 - - - �,609 - - - �9,484
SSuubb--ttoottaall  nnoonn--eexxeeccuuttiivvee  ddiirreeccttoorrss 5500,,887755 -- -- -- 4455,,335544 -- -- -- 9966,,����99
Executive directors
I Trahar �37,900 - - - �3,5�9 ��,083 - - �8�,5��
H Whitcombe �98,777 - - 7,�78 �7,890 �0,3�6 - - �44,�7�
A Grant �3�,4�6 - �8,533 - �0,9�7 ��,946 - 750,743 �,045,555
J McAuliffe (resigned �8 
December �007) �6�,3�5 - - 7,�78 ��,798 - - - �8�,39�
Other key management 
personnel (Group)
A Soanes �04,7�3 �5,000 - - �7,634 5,036 - �7,�00 �59,583
A Shilkin 9�,560 �0,000 - - 9,�40 �,490 - - ���,�90
J Bulinski# ��0,�75 �0,000 �3,�0� - ��,539 �,86� - - �56,778
TToottaall  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  
ppeerrssoonnnneell  ccoommppeennssaattiioonn ��,,��9988,,7733�� 3355,,000000 44��,,773355 ��44,,555566 ��5577,,8800�� 66��,,774433 -- 776677,,994433 ��,,337788,,550099

* Bonuses are granted at the complete discretion of the directors with reference to the achievement of perceived milestones in
the development of the Group.

# Dr J Bulinski was appointed a director of CO� Australia on �0 November �007. Before his appointment he was the Manager of
Research & Monitoring. Amounts shown above include all Dr Bulinski’s remuneration during the reporting period, whether as a
director or as Manager of Research & Monitoring. Amounts received in his position as a director amounted to $94,836, made up
of cash salary of $70,�0�, cash bonus of $�0,000, non-monetary benefits of $7,70�, and superannuation of $7,033.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
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REMUNERATION REPORT (continued)

KeymanagementpersonnelandotherexecutivesoftheGroup

2007 Short-termemployeebenefits post- Share-
employment based

benefits payments

cash cash non other Super- options Total
salaryand bonus* monetary annuation

name fees benefits
$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Non-executive directors
M Hemmerling 5,833 - - - �9,69� - 35,5�5
C Mitchell 33,000 - - - �,970 - 35,970
SSuubb--ttoottaall  nnoonn--eexxeeccuuttiivvee  ddiirreeccttoorrss 3388,,883333 -- -- -- 33��,,6666�� -- 77��,,449955

Executive directors
I Trahar �37,900 - - - �3,5�9 - �6�,4�9
J McAuliffe �83,486 - - - �6,5�4 - �00,000
H Whitcombe �83,486 - - - �6,5�4 - �00,000
A Grant �0�,835 �4,000 - �6,364 �8,�65 �33,93� 404,�96
Other key management personnel

A Soanes �73,836 �0,000 - - �6,545 73,�79 �73,660
A Shilkin 73,395 - - - 6,606 - 80,00�

TToottaall  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  
ccoommppeennssaattiioonn ��,,0099��,,7777�� 3344,,000000 -- ��66,,336644 ��3300,,553355 ��0077,,������ ��,,449900,,8888��

* Bonuses are granted at the complete discretion of the directors with reference to the achievement of perceived milestones in
the development of the Group

C Serviceagreements
Remuneration has been determined after the Remuneration Committee, for executive directors, and the board, for group
executives, has investigated current market terms and conditions. The board has been considering the introduction of an
Executive Bonus Scheme which the Remuneration Committee will develop and implement. This Scheme will be put to
shareholders for approval.

As at the date of this Report there is no formal performance condition included in any directors’ or executives’ remuneration
package. Service Agreements have been entered into by all executive directors and certain specified executives.  Summarised
below are the major terms of those agreements. The non-executive directors do not have service agreements.

Options issued to Messrs Grant and Soanes are not performance orientated. Both are experts in the field in which they operate
and the board took the view that the best way to encourage these experts was to provide them with an opportunity to
participate in the growth of the consolidated entity which will be generated directly from their endeavours. All shareholders
will benefit from the results which will be achieved through these two executives’ efforts. This is a growing business and quality
people are required to grow the business.

The Remuneration Committee will revise the remuneration practices and develop policy for future appointments and
determine performance based salary increases and bonuses, bearing in mind the size of the Group and the need to ensure
quality staff are employed and retained.

IINN  TTrraahhaarr,,  HHRR  WWhhiittccoommbbee  aanndd  JJ  MMccAAuulliiffffee (resigned �8 December �007) Executive Directors:
• Term of agreement - no fixed term;
• Base salary which includes superannuation is reviewed annually (minimum increase of CPI);
• Employer may terminate employment on giving twelve months notice and in the event of early termination at the option

of the employer, by payment of a termination benefit equal to �00% of base salary for the unexpired period of notice. The
employee may terminate on giving three months notice.

AAWWTT  GGrraanntt Managing Director of subsidiary CO� Australia Limited and Chief Executive Officer of CO� Group Ltd:

• Term of agreement - no fixed term;
• Base salary which includes superannuation is reviewed annually (minimum increase of CPI);
• Employer may terminate employment on giving six months notice and in the event of early termination at the option of 

the employer, by payment of a termination benefit equal to six months of base salary for the unexpired period of notice;
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• In the event of redundancy, six months base salary is to be paid plus payment equivalent to three weeks of base salary for 
each completed year of service;

• One off issue of 7,400,000 options exercisable at $0.��, as approved by shareholders;
• From � February �006 all running costs relating to Mr Grant’s motor vehicle are paid by the company, including the monthly

hire purchase payments on the vehicle.
• As part of Mr Grant’s appointment as CEO on �8 July �007, Mr Grant was offered an executive option package which may

result in a maximum of 9,000,000 options being issued to him. These options are to be issued to Mr Grant for no
consideration. This issue of options was approved by shareholders at the Company’s AGM held on 8 November �007;

• The key terms of the options issued to Mr Grant are summarised as follows: (i) Series � - 3,000,000 options, exercise price
$0.50, vesting on 30 June �008; (ii) Series �a - �,000,000 options, exercise price $0.60, vesting on 30 June �009; (iii) Series � -
�,000,000 options, exercise price $0.60, vesting on 30 June �009; (iv) Series �a - �,000,000 options, exercise price $0.70,
vesting on 30 June �0�0; (v) Series 3 - �,000,000 options, exercise price $0.70, vesting on 30 June �0�0; and (vi) Series 3a -
�,000,000 options, exercise price $0.80, vesting on 30 June �0��.

• Series �a, �a and 3a will be issued if Series �, � and 3 respectively are exercised by Mr Grant. All the options have an expiry
date of 3� July �0��.

AAJJ  SSooaanneess Director and Manager of Operations, CO� Australia Limited
• Term of agreement - no fixed term;
• Base salary which includes superannuation is reviewed annually (minimum increase of CPI);
• Employer or employee may terminate employment on giving one months notice;
• In the event of redundancy, six months base salary is to be paid plus payment equivalent to three weeks of base salary for

each completed year of service;
• Issue of �,000,000 options exercisable at $0.��, expiring �� November �0��.

AA  SShhiillkkiinn Chief Financial Officer, CO� Australia Limited
• Term of agreement - no fixed term;
• Base salary which includes superannuation is reviewed annually (minimum increase of CPI);
• Employer or employee may terminate employment on giving one months notice;
• In the event of redundancy, six months base salary is to be paid plus payment equivalent to three weeks of base salary for

each completed year of service;
• Issue of �,000,000 options exercisable at $0.33, expiring �6 November �009 and issued upon commencement of

employment. The issue of these options was not performance based;
• The options were issued at an exercise price which represents a significant premium to the market price at the time of issue.

Accordingly to benefit from the options, the company’s share price must exceed the exercise price before the options expire.
The options are not transferable without Board approval and so it is unlikely any value can be obtained by the holder of the
options without exercising the options.

DDrr  JJ  BBuulliinnsskkii  Director, CO� Australia Limited

• Term of agreement - no fixed term;
• Base salary which includes superannuation is reviewed annually (minimum increase of CPI);
• Employer or employee may terminate employment on giving one months notice;
• Issue of �,000,000 options exercisable at $0.40, expiring �5 November �0�0 and issued on �5 November �006. The issue of

these options was not performance based.
• The options were issued at an exercise price which represents a significant premium to the market price at the time of issue.

Accordingly to benefit from the options, the company’s share price must exceed the exercise price before the options expire.
The options are not transferable without Board approval and so it is unlikely any value can be obtained by the holder of the
options without exercising the options.

D Share-basedcompensation
Options
Options over shares in CO� Group Limited have not been granted under the CO� Group Limited Employee Share Option Plan
(which was approved by shareholders at the �004 annual general meeting).  To date, no shares or options have been issued
pursuant to this plan.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
DIRECTORS’  REPORT
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Key management personnel have been issued with share options as part of their contracts of employment, as detailed above.

The terms and conditions of each grant of options affecting remuneration in the previous, this or future reporting periods are
as follows:

Details of options over ordinary shares in the company provided as remuneration to each director of CO� Group Limited and
each of the key management personnel of the parent entity and the Group are set out below.  When exercisable, each option
is convertible into one ordinary share of CO� Group Limited.  Further information on the options is set out in note 33 to the
financial statements.

The assessed fair value at grant date of options granted to the individuals is allocated equally over the period from grant date
to vesting date, and the amount is included in the remuneration tables above.  Fair values of unlisted options at grant date are
independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of
the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility of the underlying share, the
expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option.

NNaammee NNuummbbeerr  ooff  ooppttiioonnss  ggrraanntteedd NNuummbbeerr  ooff  ooppttiioonnss  vveesstteedd  
dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr

22000088 22000077 22000088 2007

DDiirreeccttoorrss  ooff  CCOO��  GGrroouupp  LLiimmiitteedd
A Grant 9,000,000 - 3,000,000 �,500,000
OOtthheerr  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  ooff  tthhee  GGrroouupp
A Soanes - - 3�0,000 340,000
J Bulinski - �,000,000 - �,000,000

KKeeyy  MMaannaaggeemmeenntt  PPeerrssoonnnneell DDaattee  vveesstteedd  aanndd EExxppiirryy  ddaattee EExxeerrcciissee  pprriiccee VVaalluuee  ppeerr  ooppttiioonn  aatt  
eexxeerrcciissaabbllee ggrraanntt  ddaattee

A Grant * 3 September 2004 12 November 2011 $0.12 $0.23
A Soanes * 15 November 2004 12 November 2011 $0.12 $0.43
M Hemmerling & C Mitchell 16 November 2005 16 November 2009 $0.32 $0.10
A Shilkin 8 March 2006 28 February 2010 $0.33 $0.09
J Bulinski 14 November 2006 15 November 2010 $0.40 $0.12
A Grant 30 June 2008 31 July 2011 $0.50 $0.16
A Grant 30 June 2009 31 July 2011 $0.60 $0.15
A Grant 30 June 2009 31 July 2011 $0.60 $0.15
A Grant 30 June 2010 31 July 2011 $0.70 $0.13
A Grant 30 June 2010 31 July 2011 $0.70 $0.13
A Grant 30 June 2011 31 July 2011 $0.80 $0.12

* Listed options
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3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 3300  JJuunnee  ��000077 3300  JJuunnee  ��000066 3300  JJuunnee  ��000055 3300  JJuunnee  ��000044
$$ $$ $$ $$ $$

Revenue 12,078,589 3,953,696 - - 690,959
Net profit (loss) before tax 356,258 (3,824,230) (4,518,865) (4,921,214) (777,436)
Net profit (loss) after tax 1,573,272 (3,685,784) (4,498,461) (4,009,179) (777,436)

Share price at start of year 38c 17c 30c 26c 9c
Share price at end of year 34c 38c 17c 30c 26c
Dividend - - - - - 
Basic earnings per share 0.62cps - 1.79cps - 2.28cps - 2.08cps -0.41cps
Diluted earnings per share 0.38cps - 1.79cps - 2.28cps - 2.08cps - 0.41cps

E Additionalinformation
Performance of CO� Group Limited
The table below sets out summary information about the consolidated entity's earnings and movements in shareholder wealth
for the five years to June �008:

The figures for 30 June �004 in the above table relate to pre-Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting
Standards.

Changes in the wealth of the business currently bears no relationship to the remuneration of key management personnel.

Shares provided on exercise of remuneration options
To date, there have been no ordinary shares in the company provided as a result of the exercise of remuneration options to
directors of CO� Group Limited or other key management personnel of the Group. 

A = The percentage of the value of remuneration consisting of options, based on the value of options expensed during the
current year.

B = The value at grant date calculated in accordance with AASB � share-based Payment of options granted during the year as
part of remuneration.

C = The value at exercise date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and were exercised during the year, being
the intrinsic value of the options at that date. 

D = The value at lapse date of options that were granted as part of remuneration and that lapsed during the year because a
vesting condition was not satisfied. The value is determined at the time of lapsing, but assuming the condition was
satisfied. 

AA BB CC DD
NNaammee RReemmuunneerraattiioonn  VVaalluuee  aatt  ggrraanntt  VVaalluuee  aatt  VVaalluuee  aatt  llaappssee

ccoonnssiissttiinngg  ooff  ddaattee eexxeerrcciissee  ddaattee ddaattee
ooppttiioonnss $$ $$ $$

OOppttiioonnss
A Grant 63.5% 1,318,400 - -
A Soanes 6.8% 430,000 - -

Share-based compensation: 
Further details relating to share-based compensation are set out below.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
DIRECTORS’  REPORT
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Sharesunderoption
Unissued ordinary shares of CO� Group Limited under option at the date of this report are as follows:

No option holder has any right under the options to participate in any other share issue of the company or any other entity.  No
options have been exercised since the end of the financial year.

The company has in issue 30,483,5�� convertible preference shares that have not been exercised. For further information
relating to the convertible preference shares, please refer to note �3(d).

Insuranceofofficers
During the financial year, the Group paid a premium in respect of a contract insuring the directors of the company (as named
above), the company secretary, Mr H R Whitcombe, and all executive officers of the company and of any related body corporate
against a liability incurred as such a director, secretary or executive officer to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act �00�.
The contract of insurance prohibits disclosure of the nature of the liability and the amount of the premium.

The Group has not otherwise, during or since the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified or agreed
to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such an officer
or auditor.

Proceedingsonbehalfofthecompany
No person has applied to the Court under section �37 of the Corporations Act �00� for leave to bring proceedings on behalf of
the company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the company is a party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on
behalf of the company for all or part of those proceedings.

No proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of the company with leave of the Court under section �37 of the
Corporations Act �00�.

Non-auditservices
The company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the auditor's
expertise and experience with the company and/or the Group are important.

The auditor (Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu) was not engaged for any non-audit services during the year.  

Dividends-CO2GroupLimited
The Directors of CO� Group Limited do not recommend the payment of a dividend and no dividends have been paid or declared
during either the year ended 30 June �008 or �007.

DDaattee  ooppttiioonnss  ggrraanntteedd EExxppiirryy  ddaattee EExxeerrcciissee  pprriiccee  ooff  NNuummbbeerr  uunnddeerr  
ooppttiioonnss ooppttiioonn

Listed   various issue dates 12 November 2011 $0.12 156,192,688
15 November 2005 17 November 2009 $0.32 2,500,000
27 February 2006 28 February 2010 $0.33 2,000,000
14 November 2006 15 November 2010 $0.40 1,000,000
20 June 2007 21 June 2011 $0.55 500,000
8 November 2007 31 July 2011 $0.50 3,000,000
8 November 2007 31 July 2011 $0.60 3,000,000
8 November 2007 31 July 2011 $0.70 2,000,000
8 November 2007 31 July 2011 $0.80 1,000,000

171,192,688

Loanstodirectorsandexecutives
Information on loans to directors and executives, including amounts, interest rates and repayment terms are set out in note �5
to the financial statements.
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Auditor'sindependencedeclaration
A copy of the auditor's independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act �00� is set out on
page �8.

Auditor
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu continues in office in accordance with section 3�7 of the Corporations Act �00�.

This report is made in accordance with a resolution of directors.

Andrew William Thorold Grant
Director

Melbourne
�6 August �008

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
DIRECTORS’  REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

CO� Group Limited (the company) and the board are committed to achieving and demonstrating the highest standards of
corporate governance.  The board continues to review the framework and practices to ensure they meet the interests of
shareholders.  The company and its controlled entities together are referred to as the Group in this statement.

As has been noted in previous financial reports and on the company’s web site the board acknowledges the Principles of Good
Corporate Governance and Best Practice Recommendations set by the Australian Stock Exchange (“ASX”) Corporate
Governance Council. The board, since the last full year Financial Report, has continued to monitor those areas of the Best
Practice Recommendations which had not been adopted.  The board continues to hold the view that with the company’s
current size and extent and nature of operations that full adoption of the best practice recommendations is currently not
practical.  The board will continue to work towards full adoption of the recommendations in line with the growth and
development of the company in the years ahead. The board does actively monitor the ASX corporate governance
recommendations as the company changes in profile and size. 

A description of the company's main corporate governance practices is set out below.  All these practices, unless otherwise
stated, were in place for the entire year.

TheRolesoftheBoardandManagement
The company is currently managed by the executive directors and as a consequence there has been no separation of duties.

The board operates in accordance with the broad principles set out in its charter which is available from the corporate
governance section of the company website at www.co�australia.com.au. The charter details the board's composition and
responsibilities.

BBooaarrddccoommppoossiittiioonn
• The board shall comprise at least three and not more than ten directors. The size of the board will take account of the desired

mix of skills and experience levels required to discharge its responsibilities; 

• The current board has the broad experience and expertise of four executive directors and two non-executive directors.  The
composition of the board is not consistent with recommendation �.� of the ASX Corporate Governance Council ("CGC") in
that a majority of the board does not comprise independent directors. The size of the company, its specialised non-
complementary businesses and its geographic markets places a demand for a skills, knowledge and experience combination
which is difficult to match without incurring unreasonable cost.  The board holds the view that expanding the board to
comply with the form of recommendation �.� would not necessarily add value and that in the short-term, the cost outweighs
the benefits.

• The Chairman is elected by the full board.  As the current Chairman is an executive director, the company's practice is not
consistent with recommendation �.� of CGC.  The Chairman was appointed a director of the company and Chairman in �00�.
He has been instrumental in changing the strategic direction of the company and has in depth knowledge of the Group's
business.  For a company of this size, it would be difficult to attract an independent Chairman of this calibre and experience.

RReessppoonnssiibbiilliittiieess

The responsibilities of the board include:
• providing strategic guidance to the company including contributing to the development of and approving the corporate

strategy
• reviewing and approving business plans, the annual budget and financial plans including available resources and major

capital expenditure initiatives
• overseeing and monitoring:

• organisational performance and the achievement of the Group’s strategic goals and objectives
• compliance with the company’s Code of Conduct (see page ��)
• progress of major capital expenditures and other significant corporate projects including any acquisitions or divestments

• monitoring financial performance including approval of the annual and half-year financial reports and liaison with the
company’s auditors

• appointment, performance assessment and, if necessary, removal of the Chief Executive Officer
• enhancing and protecting the reputation of the organisation
• overseeing the operation of the Group’s system for compliance and risk management reporting to shareholders.

BBooaarrddmmeemmbbeerrss
Details of the members of the board, their experience, expertise, qualifications, term of office and independent status are set
out in the directors’ report under the heading ''Information on directors''.  There are two non-executive directors, both of whom
are deemed independent under the principles set out below, and four executive directors at the date of signing the directors’
report.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
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The board seeks to ensure that:

• at any point in time, its membership represents an appropriate balance between directors with experience and knowledge
of the Group and directors with an external or fresh perspective

• the size of the board is conducive to effective discussion and efficient decision-making.

DDiirreeccttoorrss’’iinnddeeppeennddeennccee

The board has adopted specific principles in relation to directors’ independence. These state that when determining
independence, a director must be a non-executive and the board should consider whether the director:
• not be a substantial shareholder of the company or an officer of, or otherwise associated directly with, a substantial

shareholder of the company
• within the last three years, not have been employed in an executive capacity by the company or any other Group member,

or been a director after ceasing to hold any such employment
• within the last three years not have been a principal of a material professional adviser or a material consultant to the

company or any other Group member, or an employee materially associated with the service provided
• not be a material supplier or customer of the company or any other Group member, or an officer of or otherwise associated

directly or indirectly with a material supplier or customer
• must have no material contractual relationship with the company or a controlled entity other than as a director of the Group
• not have been on the board for a period which could, or could reasonably be perceived to, materially interfere with the

director’s ability to act in the best interests of the company

Materiality for these purposes is determined on both quantitative and qualitative bases. An amount of over 5% of annual
turnover of the company or Group or 5% of the individual directors’ net worth is considered material for these purposes.  In
addition, a transaction of any amount or a relationship is deemed material if knowledge of it may impact the shareholders’
understanding of the director’s performance.

TTeerrmmooffooffffiiccee

The company’s Constitution specifies that, apart from a Managing Director, one third of the board and/or any directors who
have been in office for three or more years must retire from office at each annual general meeting ("AGM") and may seek re-
election.  Directors can hold office for a term of three years or up to the third AGM before having to retire and seek re-election.

CChhaaiirrmmaannaannddCChhiieeffEExxeeccuuttiivveeOOffffiicceerr((CCEEOO))

The Chairman is responsible for leading the board, ensuring directors are properly briefed in all matters relevant to their role
and responsibilities, facilitating board discussions and managing the board’s relationship with the company’s senior executives.

The CEO is responsible for implementing Group strategies and policies.  The board charter specifies that these are separate roles
to be undertaken by separate people.

CCoommmmiittmmeenntt

The board held ten board meetings during the year.  One of those meetings was held at operational sites of the company and
a full tour of the facilities was included as part of the visit.

The number of meetings of the company’s board of directors and of each board committee held during the year ended 30 June
�008, and the number of meetings attended by each director is disclosed on page 9.

The commitments of non-executive directors are considered by the nomination committee prior to the directors’ appointment
to the board of the company and are reviewed each year as part of the annual performance assessment.

CCoonnfflliiccttooff iinntteerreessttss
Entities connected with Mr I N Trahar had business dealings with the consolidated entity during the year, as described in note
�5 to the financial statements. In accordance with the board charter, the director concerned declared his interest in those
dealings to the company and took no part in decisions relating to them or the preceding discussions. 

IInnddeeppeennddeennttpprrooffeessssiioonnaallaaddvviiccee
Directors and board committees have the right, in connection with their duties and responsibilities, to seek independent
professional advice at the company's expense.  Prior written approval of the Chairman is required, but this will not be
unreasonably withheld.

PPeerrffoorrmmaanncceeaasssseessssmmeenntt
The Chairman reviews the performance of the board and the performance of individual directors. The board intends to
implement a formal process for the review and appraisal of the overall performance of the board and individual directors.  
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CCoorrppoorraatteerreeppoorrttiinngg

The CEO and Chief Financial Officer have made the following certifications to the board:
• that the company’s financial reports are complete and present a true and fair view, in all material respects, of the financial

condition and operational results of the company and Group and are in accordance with relevant accounting standards.

• that the above statement is founded on a sound system of risk management and internal compliance and control which
implements the policies adopted by the board and that the company’s risk management and internal compliance and
control is operating efficiently and effectively in all material respects.

BBooaarrddccoommmmiitttteeeess

The board has established a number of committees to assist in the execution of its duties and to allow detailed consideration
of complex issues.  Current committees of the board are the remuneration and audit committees.  The committee structure and
membership is reviewed on an annual basis.  A policy of rotation of committee members applies.

Each committee has its own written charter setting out its role and responsibilities, composition, structure, membership
requirements and the manner in which the committee is to operate.  All of these charters are reviewed on an annual basis and
are available on the company website. All matters determined by committees are submitted to the full board as
recommendations for board decisions.

Nominationcommittee

The company does not have a nomination committee.  Given the size of the current board, the board does not consider it
necessary to maintain a formal nomination committee.  This is not consistent with recommendation �.4 of CGC which is not
considered practical as the board can properly address this function without the need to delegate to a committee.

The membership of the board is reviewed by the existing board on a continuous basis.

The board as a whole is responsible for establishing criteria for board membership, reviewing board membership and
nominating directors.

The main criteria for the appointment of directors are expertise, experience and qualifications which will contribute to the
competent and efficient operation of the board.

The appointment and retirement of non-executive directors is reviewed by the board on a continuous basis.

Remunerationcommittee
The Board appointed a Remuneration Committee on �5 December �005. The members of the Committee are:
Dr Chris Mitchell (Chairman) - Executive director (from �8 August �008)
Dr Mal Hemmerling - Non-executive director
Mr Ian Trahar - Executive director
Mr P Favretto - Non-executive director.

Details of these directors’ attendance at remuneration committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report on page 9.

The remuneration committee operates in accordance with its charter which is available on the company website. The
remuneration committee advises the board on remuneration and incentive policies and practices generally, and makes specific
recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for executive directors, and other senior
executives.

The full board has retained full responsibility for determining the remuneration of non-executive directors. The full board
elected to approve the issue of unlisted options to the two non-executive directors appointed in July �005. The issue of the
options was approved by shareholders at the general meeting after their appointment.

The issue of options to non-executive directors is not consistent with the guidelines to recommendation 9.3 of CGC, however
the board considered the issue of options in the circumstances to be in the best interests of shareholders in lieu of more
substantial cash fees.

Further information on directors’ and executives’ remuneration, including principles used to determine remuneration, is set out
in the directors’ report under the heading ''Remuneration report''.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
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Auditcommittee
The Board appointed an Audit Committee on �5 December �005. The members of the Committee are:
Dr Mal Hemmerling (Chairman) - Non-executive director
Dr Chris Mitchell - Executive director (resigned �8 August �008)
Mr Ian Trahar - Executive director.
Mr P Favretto - Non-executive director.

Details of these directors’ qualifications and attendance at audit committee meetings are set out in the directors’ report on
pages 6 - 9.

The structure of the audit committee is not consistent with recommendation 4.3 of the CGC in that it is not comprised solely of
non-executive directors. The company only has two non-executive directors, and the size of the full board is six members.  As
none of the independent directors are financial professionals, the board considered that the Chairman, who is also an executive
director, should also be a member to ensure the Committee is balanced and has the desired technical expertise and industry
knowledge.

The audit committee operates in accordance with a charter that is available on the company website.  The main responsibilities
of the committee are to:

• Ensure that an effective internal control framework exists within the company;
• Review the annual and half-year reports, financial statements and other information distributed externally;
• Review audit reports and letters to the board from the external auditors;
• Liaise with external auditors and ensuring the annual audit and half-year review are conducted in an effective manner;
• Nomination of the external auditor and reviewing the adequacy of the scope and quality of the annual audit and half-year

review; and
• Monitor compliance with the Corporations Act �00�, ASX Listing Rules, and other matters outstanding with other regulatory

and financial authorities.

Externalauditors

The company and audit committee policy is to appoint external auditors who clearly demonstrate quality and independence.
The performance of the external auditor is reviewed annually and applications for tender of external audit services are requested
as deemed appropriate, taking into consideration assessment of performance, existing value and tender costs.  Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu is the external auditor of the Group.  

An analysis of fees paid to the external auditors is provided in note �6 to the financial statements.  

The external auditor will attend the annual general meeting and be available to answer shareholder questions about the
conduct of the audit and the preparation and content of the audit report.

Riskassessmentandmanagement

The board, through the audit committee, is responsible for ensuring there are adequate policies in relation to risk management,
compliance and internal control systems.  These policies are available on the company website.  In summary, the company
policies are designed to ensure strategic, operational, legal, reputational, and financial risks are identified, assessed, effectively
and efficiently managed and monitored to enable achievement of the Group's business objectives.

Considerable importance is placed on maintaining a strong control environment.  There is an organisation structure with clearly
drawn lines of accountability and delegation of authority.  Adherence to the Code of Conduct (see below) is required at all times
and the board actively promotes a culture of quality and integrity.

CodeofConduct

The company has developed a statement of values and a Code of Conduct (the Code) which has been fully endorsed by the
board and applies to all directors and employees.  The Code is regularly reviewed and updated as necessary to ensure it reflects
the highest standards of behaviour and professionalism and the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Group's
integrity.

In summary, the Code requires that at all times all company personnel act with the utmost integrity, objectivity and in
compliance with the letter and the spirit of the law and company policies.

The purchase and sale of company securities by directors and employees is not permitted during the periods between year  and
half-year end and the release of the half-yearly and annual financial results to the market.  At all times, any transactions
undertaken must be notified to the Company Secretary in advance.
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The directors are satisfied that the Group has complied with its policies on ethical standards, including trading in securities.

A copy of the Code and the trading policy are available on the company’s website.

Continuousdisclosureandshareholdercommunication
The company has written policies and procedures on information disclosure that focus on continuous disclosure of any
information concerning the Group that a reasonable person would expect to have a material effect on the price of the
company’s securities. These policies and procedures also include the arrangements the company has in place to promote
communication with shareholders and encourage effective participation at general meetings.  A summary of these policies and
procedures is available on the company’s website.

The Company Secretary has been nominated as the person responsible for communications with the Australian Stock Exchange
(ASX).  This role includes responsibility for ensuring compliance with the continuous disclosure requirements in the ASX Listing
Rules and overseeing and coordinating information disclosure to the ASX, analysts, brokers, shareholders, the media and the
public.

All information disclosed to the ASX is posted on the company’s website as soon as it is disclosed to the ASX.  When analysts are
briefed on aspects of the Group’s operations, the material used in the presentation is released to the ASX and posted on the
company’s web site.  Procedures have also been established for reviewing whether any price sensitive information has been
inadvertently disclosed and, if so, this information is also immediately released to the market.

All shareholders receive a copy of the company’s annual and half-yearly reports, either via mail or by electronic means if they so
wish.  In addition, the company seeks to provide further opportunities for shareholders to participate through electronic means.
Initiatives to facilitate this include making all company announcements, media briefings, details of company meetings, press
releases for the last three years and financial reports for the last five years available on the company’s website.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
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CO2 GROUP L IMITED 
ABN 50 009 317 846

This financial report covers both the separate financial statements of CO� Group Limited as an individual entity and the
consolidated financial statements for the consolidated entity consisting of CO� Group Limited and its subsidiaries.  The financial
report is presented in the Australian currency.

CO� Group Limited is a company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  Its registered office and principal
place of business is:

CO� Group Limited
Lvl ��, ��5 St George's Terrace
Perth WA 6000

Registered postal address is:

PO Box 73��
Cloisters Square WA 6850

A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities is included in the review of
operations and activities on page 3-4.

The financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on �6 August �008.  The company has the power to amend and
reissue the financial report.

Through the use of the internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely and complete.  All press releases,
financial reports and other information are available at our Shareholders’í Centre on our website: www.co�australia.com.au.

For queries in relation to our reporting please call 08 93�� 4��� or e mail  qquueessttiioonnss@@ccoo��aauussttrraalliiaa..ccoomm..aauu..
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consolidated parent

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

NNootteess $$ $$ $$ $$

RReevveennuuee  ffrroomm  ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss 5 ��,078,589 3,953,696 - -

Other income 6 7��,9�0 �30,�56 �,�39,608 847,�37

Employee benefits expense (3,605,4�4) (�,837,76�) (�,�35,464) (�,5�3,590)

Depreciation and amortisation expense 7 (�34,899) (�08,360) (7,�39) (7,046)

Consulting expense (�43,654) (�79,699) (9�,43�) (��6,�5�)

Finance costs 7 (70,703) (40,�49) (47,46�) (�0,�6�)

Legal fees (39�,4�4) (577,867) (�37,459) (�40,��4)

Travel (494,369) (�73,639) (�47,3�4) (���,754)

Insurance (�40,4�3) (�50,655) (�3,��6) (3�,�45)

Rent (�4�,�37) (��6,�6�) (�46,454) (�38,�53)

Research and development (�00,8�0) (86,�84) - (�6,000)

Other expenses (79�,369) (660,556) (370,588) (33�,89�)

Plantation costs (6,��7,9�9) (�,866,95�) - -

PPrrooffiitt  ((lloossss))  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx 356,�58 (3,8�4,�30) (�,866,930) (�,709,880)

Income tax benefit 8 �,��7,0�4 �38,446 3�5,446 �55,54�
PPrrooffiitt  ((lloossss))  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr �,573,�7� (3,685,784) (�,54�,484) (�,554,339)

Cents Cents

PPrrooffiitt  ((lloossss))  ppeerr  sshhaarree  ffoorr  pprrooffiitt  ((lloossss))  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  
ttoo  tthhee  oorrddiinnaarryy  eeqquuiittyy  hhoollddeerrss  ooff  tthhee  ccoommppaannyy::

Basic profit (loss) per share 3� 0.6� (�.79)

Diluted profit (loss) per share 3� 0.38 (�.79)

The above income statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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consolidated parent

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

NNootteess $$ $$ $$ $$

AASSSSEETTSS

CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss

Cash and cash equivalents 9 4,�98,689 3,�95,84� �,64�,3�4 �,�4�,�35

Trade and other receivables �0 668,7�� 40�,�99 �7,705 3�,74�

Inventories �� �,877,077 �,496,99� - -

Other current assets �� �45,957 93,058 �8,678 �9,506

Accrued income �3 �,854,908 - - -

Total current assets �0,745,35� 5,�87,090 �,677,707 �,�03,383

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss

Other financial assets - investments �4 �,095,638 �,478,790 �0,���,758 �8,790,973

Property, plant and equipment �5 5,788,�76 5,64�,744 45,34� 37,589

Deferred tax assets �6 �,��5,7�3 �,�38,55� 747,356 335,999

Intangible assets �7 407,0�9 408,380 - -

Total non-current assets 9,506,656 8,667,465 �0,9�4,455 �9,�64,56�

TToottaall  aasssseettss �0,�5�,008 �3,954,555 �3,59�,�6� ��,367,944

LLIIAABBIILLIITTIIEESS

CCuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess

Trade and other payables �8 �,006,�50 �,058,0�� 447,894 466,756

Borrowings �9 78�,976 730,397 639,�58 639,�58

Provisions �0 359,977 �36,0�8 �78,��3 �95,439

Deferred income �� �,33�,�56 386,5�6 - -

Total current liabilities 3,48�,359 �,4�0,953 �,365,375 �,30�,453

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess

Borrowings �� 78,94� ��6,946 - -

Total non-current liabilities 78,94� ��6,946 - -

TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess 3,560,300 �,537,899 �,365,375 �,30�,453

NNeett  aasssseettss �6,69�,708 ��,4�6,656 ��,��6,787 �0,066,49�

EEQQUUIITTYY

Issued capital �3 �9,989,863 �6,855,565 �9,989,863 �6,855,565

Reserves �4(a) 5,855,087 5,�87,605 5,855,087 5,�87,605

Accumulated losses (�9,�53,�4�) (�0,7�6,5�4) (�3,6�8,�63) (��,076,679)

TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy �6,69�,708 ��,4�6,656 ��,��6,787 �0,066,49�

The above balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd IIssssuueedd  RReesseerrvveess AAccccuummuullaatteedd  TToottaall
ccaappiittaall lloosssseess

NNootteess $$ $$ $$ $$

BBaallaannccee  aatt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000066 ��,75�,006 4,5�4,66� (�7,040,730) �0,��4,937
Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
investments, net of tax �4 - 30�,383 - 30�,383
NNeett  iinnccoommee//((eexxppeennssee))  rreeccooggnniisseedd  ddiirreeccttllyy  iinn  eeqquuiittyy - 30�,383 - 30�,383

Profit (loss) for year - - (3,685,784) (3,685,784)
TToottaall  rreeccooggnniisseedd  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennssee  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr -- 3300��,,338833 ((33,,668855,,778844)) ((33,,338844,,4400��))

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs �3b 4,�04,559 - - 4,�04,559
Recognition of share-based payments �4 - 47�,56� - 47�,56�
BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077 ��66,,885555,,556655 55,,��8877,,660055 ((��00,,77��66,,55��44)) ����,,44��66,,665566

BBaallaannccee  aatt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000077 �6,855,565 5,�87,605 (�0,7�6,5�4) ��,4�6,656
Transfer to profit and loss-on-sale of available
for sale investments - (495,�55) - (495,�55)
Deferred tax liability crystallised on sale of 
available-for-sale investments - �48,547 - �48,547
Change in the fair value of available-for-sale 
investments net of tax �4 - �46,�47 - �46,�47
NNeett  iinnccoommee//((eexxppeennssee))  rreeccooggnniisseedd  ddiirreeccttllyy  iinn  eeqquuiittyy - (�00,46�) - (�00,46�)

Profit for year - - �,573,�7� �,573,�7�
TToottaall  rreeccooggnniisseedd  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennssee  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr - (�00,46�) �,573,�7� �,37�,8��

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs �3b 3,�34,�98 - - 3,�34,�98
Recognition of share-based payments �4 - 767,943 - 767,943
BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 �9,989,863 5,855,087 (�9,�53,�4�) �6,69�,708

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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PPaarreenntt IIssssuueedd  RReesseerrvveess AAccccuummuullaatteedd  TToottaall
ccaappiittaall lloosssseess

NNootteess $$ $$ $$ $$

BBaallaannccee  aatt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000066 ��,75�,006 4,5�4,66� (�0,5��,340) �6,743,3�7
Changes in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets, net of tax �4 - 30�,383 - 30�,383
NNeett  iinnccoommee//((eexxppeennssee))  rreeccooggnniisseedd  ddiirreeccttllyy  iinn  eeqquuiittyy - 30�,383 - 30�,383

Profit for year - - (�,554,339) (�,554,339)
TToottaall  rreeccooggnniisseedd  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennssee  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr - 30�,383 (�,554,339) (�,�5�,956)

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs �3b 4,�04,559 - - 4,�04,559
Employee share options - value of employee services �4 - 47�,56� - 47�,56�
BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077 �6,855,565 5,�87,605 (��,076,679) �0,066,49�

BBaallaannccee  aatt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000077 �6,855,565 5,�87,605 (��,076,679) �0,066,49�
Transfer to profit and loss on sale of 
available-for-sale investments - (495,�55) - (495,�55)
Deferred tax liability crystallised on sale of 
available-for-sale investments - �48,547 - �48,547
Change in the fair value of available-for-sale 
financial assets net of tax �4 - �46,�47 - �46,�47
Net income/(expense) recognised directly in equity - (�00,46�) - (�00,46�)

Profit for year - - (�,54�,484) (�,54�,484)
TToottaall  rreeccooggnniisseedd  iinnccoommee  aanndd  eexxppeennssee  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr - (�00,46�) (�,54�,484) (�,74�,945)

Contributions of equity, net of transaction costs �3b 3,�34,�98 - - 3,�34,�98
Employee share options - value of employee services �4 - 767,943 - 767,943
BBaallaannccee  aatt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 �9,989,863 5,855,087 (�3,6�8,�63) ��,��6,787

The above statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of cash flows for the year ended 30 June 2008

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

NNootteess $$ $$ $$ $$

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess
Receipts from customers (inclusive of goods 
and services tax) ��,08�,3�7 �,384,38� - -
Payments to suppliers and employees (inclusive 
of goods and services tax) (�3,766,303) (7,�7�,894) (�,�96,066) (�,8�3,�5�)

(�,684,976) (4,787,5�3) (�,�96,066) (�,8�3,�5�)
Interest and finance costs paid (66,��9) (97,5�8) (47,46�) (�0,�6�)
NNeett  ccaasshh  oouuttffllooww  ffrroomm  ooppeerraattiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess 3� (�,75�,�05) (4,885,03�) (�,�43,5�8) (�,843,4�3)

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess
Payments for property, plant and equipment (�80,079) (�,459,9�3) (�4,99�) (4,�96)
Payments for available-for-sale financial assets (93,��0) - (93,��0) -
Loans to related parties - - (�,��6,350) (5,03�,04�)
Proceeds from sale of available-for-sale 
financial assets 68�,386 - 68�,386 -
Receipts from related parties 43,47� 79,899 43,47� 79,899
Interest received �68,097 �5�,8�5 �08,��3 �4�,858
NNeett  ccaasshh  iinnffllooww  ((oouuttffllooww))  ffrroomm  iinnvveessttiinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess 5�9,655 (�,��7,�99) (39�,58�) (4,8�4,48�)

CCaasshh  fflloowwss  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess
Proceeds from issues of shares and other 
equity securities, net of transaction costs 3,�34,�98 4,�04,559 3,�34,�98 4,�04,559
Proceeds from borrowings - 639,�58 - 639,�58
NNeett  ccaasshh  iinnffllooww  ffrroomm  ffiinnaanncciinngg  aaccttiivviittiieess 3,�34,�98 4,743,8�7 3,�34,�98 4,743,8�7

NNeett  iinnccrreeaassee  ((ddeeccrreeaassee))  iinn  ccaasshh  aanndd  
ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss 90�,848 (�,368,4�3) 499,�89 (�,9�4,077)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning
of the financial year 3,�95,84� 4,664,�54 �,�4�,�35 4,056,���
CCaasshh  aanndd  ccaasshh  eeqquuiivvaalleennttss  aatt  eenndd  ooff  yyeeaarr 9 4,�98,689 3,�95,84� �,64�,3�4 �,�4�,�35

The above statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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� SUMMARY OF S IGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial report are set out below.  These policies have been
consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  The financial report includes separate financial
statements for CO� Group Limited as an individual entity and the consolidated entity consisting of CO� Group Limited and its
subsidiaries.

(a) Basisofpreparation
This general purpose financial report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards, other
authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board, and the Corporations Act �00�.

compliancewithIFrS
Australian Accounting Standards include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS).
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the financial report of CO� Group Limited complies with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS).

historicalcostconvention
These financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or
loss.

criticalaccountingestimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with AIFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.  It also
requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial
statements, are disclosed in note 3.

(b) Principlesofconsolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of CO� Group Limited (''company''
or ''parent entity'') as at 30 June �008 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  CO� Group Limited and its
subsidiaries together are referred to in this financial report as the Group or the consolidated entity.

Subsidiaries are all those entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has the power to govern the
financial and operating policies, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one-half of the voting rights.  The
existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered when assessing
whether the Group controls another entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group.  They are de-consolidated from
the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost in the individual financial statements of CO� Group Limited.

(c) Segmentreporting
A business segment is identified for a group of assets and operations engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different to those of other business segments.  A geographical segment is identified when products
or services are provided within a particular economic environment subject to risks and returns that are different from those of
segments operating in other economic environments.  The Group currently operates in a single business and geographical
segment.

(d) Revenuerecognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are net of
returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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� SUMMARY OF S IGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont inued)

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.  The
amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved.
The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and
the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue is recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i) Saleofcarboncredits
Revenue from the sale of carbon credits is recognised when the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and
rewards of the ownership of the carbon credits.

(ii) projectrevenue
Carbon sink project revenue is recognised in proportion to the work performed in relation to the product development and the
various stages of completion of the carbon sinks.

Management related income is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant contract.

(iii) Interestincome
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method.  When a receivable is impaired,
the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the
original effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income.  Interest income on
impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

(iv) dividends
Dividends are recognised as income when the right to receive payment is established.

(e) Incometax
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable or recoverable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the income tax rate that has been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date adjusted by changes in
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.  However, the deferred income tax is
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.  Deferred income tax is determined using
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

Taxconsolidationlegislation
CO� Group Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities have implemented the tax consolidation legislation.

The head entity, CO� Group Limited, and the controlled entities in the tax consolidated group account for their own current and
deferred tax amounts.  These tax amounts are measured as if each entity in the tax consolidated group continues to be a stand
alone taxpayer in its own right.

In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, CO� Group Limited also recognises the current tax liabilities (or assets)
and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from controlled entities in the tax
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consolidated group.

Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts
receivable from or payable to other entities in the Group.  Details about the tax funding agreement are disclosed in note 8.

Any difference between the amounts assumed and amounts receivable or payable under the tax funding agreement are
recognised as a contribution to (or distribution from) wholly-owned tax consolidated entities.

(f) Leases
Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group, as lessee, has substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as finance leases (note �5).  Finance leases are capitalised at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased asset
or, if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments.  The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges,
are included in other short-term and long-term payables.  Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance
cost.  The finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of
interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.  The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance
leases is depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee are
classified as operating leases (note �7).  Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor)
are charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(g) Impairmentofassets
Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired.  Other assets are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash generating units). Non-financial assets that suffered an impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

(h) Cashandcashequivalents
For cash flow statement presentation purposes, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with
financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts.
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

(i) Tradereceivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment.  Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 days.

Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off
by reducing the carrying amount directly.  An allowance account (provision for impairment of trade receivables) is used when
there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the
receivables.  Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade
receivable is impaired.  The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate.  Cash flows relating to short-term
receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial.  

The amount of the impairment loss is recognised in the income statement within ‘other expenses’.  When a trade receivable for
which an impairment allowance had been recognised becomes uncollectible in a subsequent period, it is written off against
the allowance account.  Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 'other expenses' in the
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� SUMMARY OF S IGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont inued)

income statement.

(j) Inventories
Inventory is stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory on the basis
of weighted average costs.  Costs of purchased inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts.  Net realisable
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

The Group's asset development activities involve the development and management of carbon sinks under contract to third
parties.  It also involves the acquisition of forestry rights and other assets which are held to offer for resale to third parties.

(k) Investmentsandotherfinancialassets

CCllaassssiiffiiccaattiioonn
The Group classifies its investments in the following categories: loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.  The
classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.  Management determines the classification of
its investments at initial recognition and re evaluates this designation at each reporting date.

(i) loansandreceivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market.  They are included in current assets, except for those with maturities greater than �� months after the balance sheet
date which are classified as non-current assets.  Loans and receivables are included in trade and other receivables in the balance
sheet (note �0).

(ii) available-for-salefinancialassets
Available-for-sale financial assets, comprising principally marketable equity securities, are non-derivatives that are either
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories.  They are included in non-current assets unless
management intends to dispose of the investment within �� months of the balance sheet date.

RReeccooggnniittiioonnaannddddeerreeccooggnniittiioonn
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date-the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.  Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.

When securities classified as available-for-sale are sold, the accumulated fair value adjustments recognised in equity are
included in the income statement as gains and losses from investment securities.

SSuubbsseeqquueennttmmeeaassuurreemmeenntt
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently carried at fair value.  Dividend income from financial assets at fair value
through profit and loss is recognised in the income statement as part of revenue from continuing operations when the Group’s
right to receive payments is established.

Details on how the fair value of financial instruments is determined are disclosed in note �.

IImmppaaiirrmmeenntt
The Group assesses at each balance date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets
is impaired.  In the case of equity securities classified as available-for-sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of
a security below its cost is considered as an indicator that the securities are impaired.  If any such evidence exists for available-
for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss-measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously recognised in profit or loss - is removed from equity and recognised
in the income statement.  Impairment losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments classified as available-
for-sale are not reversed through the income statement.

(l) Property,plantandequipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost
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includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.  The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.  All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to the income statement during the reporting period in which they are incurred.

Land is not depreciated.  For carbon sinks held by the Group the economic benefits from the asset are consumed in a pattern
which is linked to the production level of carbon credits.  Such assets are depreciated on a unit of production basis.
Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and equipment � -�5 years

Vehicles 5 years

Leasehold improvements 3 -30 years

Leased plant and equipment 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than
its estimated recoverable amount (note �(g)).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  These are included in the income
statement.  

(m) Intangibleassets
(i) researchanddevelopment
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as incurred.  Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the design
and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will, after
considering its commercial and technical feasibility, be completed and generate future economic benefits and its costs can be
measured reliably.  The expenditure capitalised comprises all directly attributable costs, including costs of materials, services,
direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.  Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are
recognised as an expense as incurred.  Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset
in a subsequent period. Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the point at which
the asset is ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life.

(ii)nGacaccreditation
The accreditation under the New South Wales Greenhouse Gas Abatement Scheme (NSWGGAS) will allow the Group to
generate revenues from any single project and is transferrable between projects at no significant additional cost.  It has
therefore been classified as an intangible asset and in the prior year was assigned an indefinite useful life.

During �008, the Federal Government announced the introduction of a Carbon Pollution Reduction Scheme commencing in
�0�0, although at present there has been no commentary with respect to the NSWGGAS which currently has no end date.  As
a consequence, management has commenced the amortisation of the intangible asset on a unit of production basis.

(n) Tradeandotherpayables
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services measured initially at fair value provided to the Group prior to the end
of financial year which are unpaid.  The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days of recognition.

(o) Borrowings
Borrowings are measured at amortised cost.  Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method.  Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost relating to the actual draw-down
of the facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight-line basis over the term of the facility.

Borrowings are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or
expired.  The difference between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another
party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in other income
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� SUMMARY OF S IGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont inued)

or other expenses.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for
at least �� months after the balance sheet date.

(p) Provisions
Provisions are measured at the present value of management's best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date. The discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability.  The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognised as interest expense.

(q) Employeebenefits
(i) wagesandsalaries,annualleaveandsickleave
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave expected to be
settled within �� months of the reporting date are recognised in other payables in respect of employees' services up to the
reporting date and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.

(ii) longserviceleave
The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of
expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the
projected unit credit method.  Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service.  Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date on
national government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash
outflows.

(iii) Share-basedpayments
The fair value of options granted to employees is recognised as an employee benefit expense with a corresponding increase in
equity.  The fair value is measured at grant date and recognised on a straight-line basis over the period during which the
employees become unconditionally entitled to the options.

The fair value at grant date of unlisted options is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that
takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and expected
price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the option.

The fair value of the options granted is adjusted to reflect market vesting conditions, but excludes the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions (for example, profitability and sales growth targets). Non-market vesting conditions are included in
assumptions about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each balance sheet date, the entity
revises its estimate of the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. The employee benefit expense
recognised each period takes into account the most recent estimate.  The impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, is
recognised in the income statement with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

(r) GoodsandServicesTax(GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, unless the GST incurred is not recoverable
from the taxation authority.  In this case it is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis.  The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities
which are recoverable from, or payable to the taxation authority, are presented as operating cash flow.

(s) Newaccountingstandardsandinterpretations
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for 30 June �008 reporting
periods.  The Group's and the parent entity's assessment of the impact of these new standards and interpretations is set out
below:

(i) AASB-I �� Service Concession Arrangements, AASB �007-� Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from
AASB Interpretation ��, revised UIG 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and revised UIG ��9 Service
Concession Arrangements: Disclosures

AASB-I ��, AASB �007-�, UIG 4 and the revised UIG ��9 are all effective for annual reporting periods commencing on or after �
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January �008.  AASB-I �� provides guidance on the accounting by operators for public-to-private service concession
arrangements under which private sector entities participate in the development, financing, operation and maintenance of
infrastructure for the provision of public services, such as transport, water and energy facilities.  UIG 4 has been amended to
exclude public-to-private service concession arrangements from its scope and UIG ��9 was revised to require some additional
disclosures.  The Group will apply AASB-I �� and the related amended standards and interpretations from � July �008.
Application of AASB-I �� will not have any impact on the Group's financial statements.

(ii) AASB 8 Operating Segments and AASB �007-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 8

AASB 8 and AASB �007-3 are effective for annual reporting periods commencing on or after � January �009.  AASB 8 will result
in a significant change in the approach to segment reporting, as it requires adoption of a 'management approach' to reporting
on the financial performance. The information being reported will be based on what the key decision-makers use internally for
evaluating segment performance and deciding how to allocate resources to operating segments.  The Group has not yet
decided when to adopt AASB 8.  Application of AASB 8 may result in different segments, segment results and different type of
information being reported in the segment note of the financial report.  However, at this stage, it is not expected to affect any
of the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

(iii) Revised AASB ��3 Borrowing Costs and AASB �007-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB
��3  [AASB �, AASB �0�, AASB �07, AASB ���, AASB ��6 & AASB �38 and Interpretations � & ��]

The revised AASB ��3 is applicable to annual reporting periods commencing on or after � January �009.  It has removed the
option to expense all borrowing costs and - when adopted - will require the capitalisation of all borrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset.  There will be no impact on the financial report
of the Group.

(iv) AASB-I �3 Customer Loyalty Programmes

AASB-I �3 is applicable to annual reporting periods commencing on or after � July �008.  It provides guidance on the accounting
for customer loyalty programmes and requires that the fair value of the consideration received/receivable in respect of a sale
transaction is allocated between the award credits and the other components of the sale.   The Group does not operate any
customer loyalty programmes.  AASB-I �3 will therefore have no impact on the Group's financial statements.  The Group will
apply AASB-I �3 from � July �008.

(v) Revised AASB �0� Presentation of Financial Statements and AASB �007 8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards
arising from AASB �0�

A revised AASB �0� was issued in September �007 is applicable for annual reporting periods beginning on or after � January
�009.  It requires the presentation of a statement of comprehensive income and makes changes to the statement of changes in
equity, but will not affect any of the amounts recognised in the financial statements.  If an entity has made a prior period
adjustment or has reclassified items in the financial statements, it will need to disclose a third balance sheet (statement of
financial position), this one being as at the beginning of the comparative period.  The Group intends to apply the revised
standard from � July �009.  

� SUMMARY OF S IGNIF ICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  (cont inued)
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(a) Marketrisk
(i) Foreignexchangerisk
The Group and the parent entity currently do not operate internationally and are not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

(ii) pricerisk
The Group and the parent entity are not exposed to equity securities price risk.  This arises from investments held by the Group
and classified on the balance sheet as available-for-sale.  The Group does not hold nor does it intend to hold in the future any
such investments.  The investments held by the Group are in unlisted securities and management considers that the price risk
for these unlisted securities is immaterial in terms of the possible impact on the profit or loss or total equity.

Neither the Group nor the parent entity are exposed to commodity price risk.

(iii) cashflowandfairvalueinterestraterisk
Group

Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.  Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the
Group to fair value interest rate risk.  

� F INANCIAL R ISK MANAGEMENT

3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 3300  JJuunnee  ��000077

WWeeiigghhtteedd  BBaallaannccee WWeeiigghhtteedd  BBaallaannccee
aavveerraaggee  aavveerraaggee

iinntteerreesstt  rraattee  iinntteerreesstt  rraattee
% $ % $

Deposits at call 7.�% 3,6�3,586 6.4% �,597,7�7

Commercial bills 7.6% (639,�58) 6.6% (639,�58)

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk �,984,3�8 �,958,469

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

FFiinnaanncciiaall  aasssseettss
Cash and cash equivalents 4,�98,689 3,�95,84� �,64�,3�4 �,4��,�35
Trade and other receivables 668,7�� 40�,�99 �7,705 3�,74�
Other current assets ���,338 87,589 �5,5�0 �4,037
Other financial assets �,879,5�7 5,469 3,�68 5,469
Other financial assets - investments �,095,638 �,478,790 �9,553,37� �8,���,585

8,963,9�3 5,�68,888 ��,�3�,078 �0,695,968
FFiinnaanncciiaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
Trade and other payable �,006,�49 �,058,0�� 447,895 466,756
Borrowings 86�,9�7 857,343 639,�58 639,�58

�,868,�66 �,9�5,355 �,087,�53 �,�06,0�4

The Group's activities may expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group does not use
derivative financial instruments such as foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge certain risk exposures,
as management considers this unnecessary given the nature and size of the Group's operations. 

The Group and the parent entity hold the following financial instruments:
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CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt  eennttiittyy

��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077
$$ $$ $$ $$

TTrraaddee  rreecceeiivvaabblleess
Counterparties with external credit rating (Moody’s)

- - - -
Counterparties without external credit rating * 
Group � �5,�88 ��,099 - -
Group � �76,735 75,768 687 -
Group 3 90 - - -

30�,��3 86,867 687 -

TToottaall  ttrraaddee  rreecceeiivvaabblleess 30�,��3 86,867 687 -

CCaasshh  aatt  bbaannkk  aanndd  sshhoorrtt--tteerrmm  bbaannkk  ddeeppoossiittss
AA 4,�98,689 3,�95,84� �,64�,3�4 �,�4�,�35

4,�98,689 3,�95,84� �,64�,3�4 �,�4�,�35

* Group �   new customers (less than 6 months)
Group �   existing customers (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past
Group 3   existing customers (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past. All defaults were fully recovered. 

Groupsensitivity
At 30 June �008, if interest rates had changed by  +/- 80 basis points from the year end rates with all other variables held
constant, post tax profit and equity for the year would have been $�6,798 higher/lower (�007 - change of 60 bps: $�0,4�3
higher/lower), mainly as a result of higher/lower interest income from cash and cash equivalents.  

parententitysensitivity
At 30 June �008, if interest rates had changed by  +/- 80 basis points from the year end rates with all other variables held
constant, post tax profit and equity would have been $7,485 higher/lower (�007 - change of 60 bps: $9,805 higher/lower) as a
result of lower interest income from these financial assets.

(b) Creditrisk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group.
The Group has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral where
appropriate, a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The Group's exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the aggregate value of transactions concluded are spread amongst approved
counterparties. Credit exposure is controlled by counterparty limits that are reviewed and approved by the audit committee
annually. The Group measures credit risk on a fair value basis.

Trade accounts receivable consist mainly of a small number of large enterprises which have individual contracts for the supply
of carbon sinks.  With very few customers, of which all have significant financial standing, the Group is able to maintain very low
levels of credit risk. 

Apart from the above, the Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of
counterparties having similar characteristics. The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with
high credit ratings assigned by international credit rating agencies.

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, net of any allowances for losses, represents the
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to external credit
ratings (if available) or to historical information about counterparty default rates:

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
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� FINANCIAL R ISK MANAGEMENT (cont inued)

GGrroouupp  --  AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 LLeessss  tthhaann  66--����  BBeettwweeeenn  BBeettwweeeenn  OOvveerr  55 TToottaall  CCaarrrryyiinngg
66  mmoonntthhss mmoonntthhss ��  aanndd  �� ��  aanndd  55 yyeeaarrss ccoonnttrraaccttuuaall AAmmoouunntt

yyeeaarrss yyeeaarrss ccaasshh  fflloowwss ((aasssseettss))//lliiaabbiilliittiieess

$$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$

NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess
Non-interest bearing �,006,�5� - - - - �,006,�5� �,006,�5�
Variable rate 639,�58 - - - - 639,�58 639,�58
Fixed rate - �43,7�8 78,94� - - ���,659 ���,659
TToottaall  nnoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess �,645,5�0 �43,7�8 78,94� - - �,868,�69 �,868,�69

Group - At 30 June �007 Less than 6-�� Between Between Over 5 Total Carrying
6 months months � and � � and 5 years contractual Amount

years years cash flows (assets)/liabilities

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess
Non-interest bearing �,058,0�� - - - - �,058,0�� �,058,0��
Variable rate 639,�58 - - - - 639,�58 639,�58
Fixed rate - 9�,�39 ��6,946 - - ��8,085 ��8,085
TToottaall  nnoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess �,697,�70 9�,�39 ��6,946 - - �,9�5,355 �,9�5,355

PPaarreenntt  --  AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 LLeessss  tthhaann  66--����  BBeettwweeeenn  BBeettwweeeenn  OOvveerr  55 TToottaall  CCaarrrryyiinngg
66  mmoonntthhss mmoonntthhss ��  aanndd  �� ��  aanndd  55 yyeeaarrss ccoonnttrraaccttuuaall AAmmoouunntt

yyeeaarrss yyeeaarrss ccaasshh  fflloowwss ((aasssseettss))//lliiaabbiilliittiieess

$$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$
NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess
Non-interest bearing 447,897 - - - - 447,897 447,897
Variable rate 639,�58 - - - - 639,�58 639,�58
TToottaall  nnoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess �,087,�55 - - - - �,087,�55 �,087,�55

Parent - At 30 June �007 Less than 6-�� Between Between Over 5 Total Carrying
6 months months � and � � and 5 years contractual Amount

years years cash flows (assets)/liabilities

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

NNoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess
Non-interest bearing 565,50� - - - - 565,50� 565,50�
Variable rate 639,�58 - - - - 639,�58 639,�58
Fixed rate - - - - - - -
TToottaall  nnoonn--ddeerriivvaattiivveess �,�04,759 - - - - �,�04,759 �,�04,759

(c) Liquidityrisk
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities by
continuously monitoring forecasts and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

maturitiesoffinancialliabilities
The tables below analyse the Group’s and the parent entity's financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date.  The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows. 
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(d)Fairvalueestimation
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for disclosure
purposes.

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and trading and available-
for-sale securities) is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date.  The quoted market price used for financial assets
held by the Group is the current bid price.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives and
investments in unlisted subsidiaries) is determined using valuation techniques.  The Group uses a variety of methods and makes
assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for
similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held.  Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows,
are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.  

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values
due to their short-term nature.  The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the
future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of the financial assets and financial liabilities as disclosed in the financial
statements approximate fair values in all cases, unless otherwise disclosed in note �4.

3 CRIT ICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Criticalaccountingestimatesandassumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.  The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results.  The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

revenuerecognition
The Group's policy for recognising revenue from Carbon Sequestration Plantation Services is based on management's
estimation of the stage of completion for these projects by reference to costs incurred compared to total estimated costs at
completion.  As at 30 June �008, the Group has recognised $�.85m as accrued income and $�.03m as deferred income as a
result of the application of this policy.

4 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Businesssegments
The Group operates wholly within one business segment, being the provision of environmental services in the form of carbon
sequestration.

Geographicalsegments
The Group’s operations are located solely within Australia as follows:

• Planting operations are located in New South Wales.

• Head Office is located in Western Australia.  The Head Office funds the operations of the other geographical segments and
there is only one business segment.

• The offices of the company which has been granted accreditation under the New South Wales Greenhouse Gas Abatement
Scheme are located in Victoria.

� FINANCIAL R ISK MANAGEMENT (cont inued)

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June �008

5 REVENUE

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

FFrroomm  ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss
Sales revenue
Project development fees ��,569,703 3,6�4,580 - -
Sale of carbon offsets �6�,�67 �08,56� - -
Carbon sink project management fees �46,7�9 ��0,555 - -

��,078,589 3,953,696 - -

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Gain on sale of available-for-sale financial assets (note �4) 495,�55 - 495,�55 -
Interest revenue �87,�46 �57,5�� �05,8�� �46,555
Expense recovery - - 599,��� 6�8,047
Office services 39,5�9 7�,635 39,5�9 7�,635

7��,9�0 �30,�56 �,�39,608 847,�37

6 OTHER INCOME
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7 EXPENSES

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$
NNeett  ggaaiinnss  aanndd  eexxppeennsseess
PPrrooffiitt  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  iinncclluuddeess  tthhee  ffoolllloowwiinngg  
ssppeecciiffiicc  eexxppeennsseess::

Depreciation
Plant and equipment 47,56� 43,78� 6,673 6,48�
Leasehold improvements 566 565 566 565
Plant and equipment under finance leases 73,36� 64,0�3 - -
Carbon sinks ��,059 - - -

Total depreciation �33,547 �08,360 7,�39 7,046

Amortisation
Amortisation of NGAC accreditation �,35� - - -

Total amortisation �,35� - - -

Finance costs
Interest and finance charges paid/payable 70,703 40,�49 47,46� �0,�6�

Finance costs expensed 70,703 40,�49 47,46� �0,�6�

Rental expense relating to operating leases
Minimum lease payments �4�,�37 ��6,�6� �46,454 �38,�53

Total rental expense relating to operating leases �4�,�37 ��6,�6� �46,454 �38,�53

Research and development 
Research and development costs paid and expensed �00,8�0 86,�84 - �6,000

Total research and development �00,8�0 86,�84 - �6,000

Employee benefits expense
Equity-settled share-based payments 767,943 47�,56� 767,943 47�,56�
Other employee benefits �,837,48� �,366,�00 �,367,5�� �,05�,0�9

Total Employee benefits expense 3,605,4�4 �,837,76� �,�35,464 �,5�3,590

8 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

(a) Incometaxexpense
Current tax �93,506 - - -
Deferred tax - benefit of deferred tax losses recognised (�,5�0,5�0) (�58,�58) (3�5,446) (�47,�07)
Adjustments for prior periods under (over) provision - �9,7�� - (8,434)

(�,��7,0�4) (�38,446) (3�5,446) (�55,54�)

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June �008

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

((bb)) NNuummeerriiccaall  rreeccoonncciilliiaattiioonn  ooff  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx  eexxppeennssee  
ttoo  pprriimmaa  ffaacciiee  ttaaxx  ppaayyaabbllee
Profit (loss) before income tax expense 356,�58 (3,8�4,�30) (�,866,930) (�,709,880)
Tax at the Australian tax rate of 30% (�006 - 30%) �06,877 (�,�47,�69) (560,079) (5��,964)
Tax effect of amounts which are not deductible 
(taxable) in calculating taxable income:

Non-deductible expenses 9,�5� ��3,�94 9,�5� �8,4�3
Share-based payments ��5,��3 �4�,468 ��5,��3 77,463
Legal fees - �53,8�9 - 60,707
Additional research & development (R&D) deduction (48,000) - - -
Sundry items �55 - �59 -

Adjustments for prior periods under (over) provision - �9,7�� - (8,434)
Current year tax losses for which no deferred tax 
asset has been recognised - 580,5�0 - �09,�74
Previously unrecognised tax losses now recognised 
as a deferred tax asset (�,5�0,5�0) - - -
Total income tax expense (benefit) (�,��7,0�4) (�38,446) (3�5,446) (�55,54�)

8 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (cont inued)

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

(c) Taxlosses
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tax 
asset has been recognised - 5,035,067 - 3,0�6,43�
Potential tax benefit @ 30% - �,5�0,5�0 - 907,9�9

(d) Taxconsolidationlegislation
CO� Group Limited and its wholly-owned Australian controlled entities implemented the tax consolidation legislation from �
July �003.   The accounting policy in relation to this legislation is set out in note �(e).

On adoption of the tax consolidation legislation, the entities in the tax consolidated group entered into a tax sharing agreement
which, in the opinion of the directors, limits the joint and several liability of the wholly-owned entities in the case of a default
by the head entity, CO� Group Limited. 

The entities have also entered into a tax funding agreement under which the wholly-owned entities fully compensate CO�
Group Limited for any current tax payable assumed and are compensated by CO� Group Limited for any current tax receivable
and deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses or unused tax credits that are transferred to CO� Group Limited under the
tax consolidation legislation.  The funding amounts are determined by reference to the amounts recognised in the wholly-
owned entities’ financial statements.

The amounts receivable/payable under the tax funding agreement are due upon receipt of the funding advice from the head
entity, which is issued as soon as practicable after the end of each financial year. The head entity may also require payment of
interim funding amounts to assist with its obligations to pay tax instalments.  The funding amounts are recognised as current
intercompany receivables or payables (see note �8).
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9 CURRENT ASSETS -  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Cash at bank and in hand 575,�03 698,��4 ��7,�8� �64,737
Deposits at call 3,6�3,586 �,597,7�7 �,5�4,�43 �,977,398

4,�98,689 3,�95,84� �,64�,3�4 �,�4�,�35

((aa)) IInntteerreesstt  rraattee  rriisskk  eexxppoossuurree
The Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to interest rate risk is discussed in note �.

((bb)) CCaasshh  aatt  bbaannkk  aanndd  oonn  hhaanndd
Cash at bank and on hand is non-interest bearing.

((cc)) CCaasshh  nnoott  aavvaaiillaabbllee  ffoorr  uussee
Included in deposits at call is an amount of $��3,487 (�007: $�05,3�6) which is held as security for bank facilities.

((dd)) DDeeppoossiittss  aatt  ccaallll
Deposits at call are interest bearing.

�0 CURRENT ASSETS -  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Trade receivables 30�,��3 86,867 687 -
Goods and services tax (GST) recoverable �40,84� �53,5�9 �7,0�8 3�,74�
Current tax receivable - R&D tax rebate ��5,767 �60,803 - -

668,7�� 40�,�99 �7,705 3�,74�

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

6 to 9 months 90 - - -
90 - - -

((aa)) PPaasstt  dduuee  bbuutt  nnoott  iimmppaaiirreedd

As of 30 June �008, trade receivables of $90 (�007 - Nil) were past due but not impaired. This relates to one independent
customer for whom there is no recent history of default.  

((bb)) IInntteerreesstt  rraattee  rriisskk

Information about the Group’s and the parent entity’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to trade and other receivables is
provided in note �.

((cc)) FFaaiirr  vvaalluuee  aanndd  ccrreeddiitt  rriisskk

Due to the short-term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate their fair value. The average
credit period on rendering of services is 30 days.

Refer to note � for more information on the risk management policy of the Group and the credit quality of the entity’s trade
receivables.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June �008

�� CURRENT ASSETS -   INVENTORIES

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Seed
-at cost �88,3�6 3�3,��9 - -
Carbon sinks under development
-at cost �,588,75� �,�73,763 - -

�,877,077 �,496,99� - -

Carbon sinks under development relates to costs incurred on plantings for carbon sinks on behalf of customers.

�� CURRENT ASSETS -   OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Prepayments 96,578 86,964 �5,5�0 �4,037
Accrued interest �4,6�9 5,469 3,�68 5,469
Deposits paid �3,750 - - -
Carbon credits �,0�0 6�5 - -

�45,957 93,058 �8,678 �9,506

Carbon credits have been purchased on the spot market. They do not represent carbon credits produced by the Group's carbon sinks.

�3 CURRENT ASSETS -  ACCRUED INCOME

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Accrued income from carbon sink development �,854,908 - - -
�,854,908 - - -
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(i) The Group holds �9% (�007: �9%) of the ordinary share capital of The Oil Mallee Company of Australia Limited (OMC),
a company involved in the cultivation of Oil Mallee trees. The directors of the Group do not believe that the Group is
able to exert significant influence over OMC nor can the Group exert any management control over OMC.  Due to the
lack of information at this time, the range of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the probability of the
various estimates cannot reasonably be assessed. Therefore the investment in OMC is stated at cost of $76�,7�6 (�007:
$668,496). The Group does not intend to dispose of its investment in OMC.

(ii) The Group holds �,898,735 fully paid unquoted ordinary shares and � converting performance share in Western
Australian Resources Limited (WAR).  The consideration paid for these shares was the Group’s interest in mineral
tenements. The investment represents an ��% (�007: ��%) shareholding in that company. The fair value of the
investment in WAR as estimated by management is $333,9�� (�007: $8�0,�94).

(iii) The loans advanced to subsidiaries are non-interest bearing and there are no repayment terms.

�4 NON-CURRENT ASSETS -  OTHER F INANCIAL ASSETS -  INVESTMENTS

�5 NON-CURRENT ASSETS -  PROPERTY,  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Available-for-sale investments (i),(ii) �,095,638 �,478,790 �,095,638 �,478,790
�,095,638 �,478,790 �,095,638 �,478,790

Shares in subsidiaries (note �9) - - 6 5
Loans to subsidiaries (iii) - - �9,0�6,��4 �7,3��,�78

- - �9,0�6,��0 �7,3��,�83

�,095,638 �,478,790 �0,���,758 �8,790,973

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd FFrreeeehhoolldd PPllaanntt  aanndd  LLeeaasseehhoolldd  LLeeaasseedd  ppllaanntt  CCaarrbboonn  ssiinnkkss TToottaall
llaanndd eeqquuiippmmeenntt iimmpprroovveemmeennttss &&  eeqquuiippmmeenntt

$$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$

AAtt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000066
Cost - �03,�37 ��,6�0 3�0,065 3,84�,767 4,387,689
Accumulated depreciation - (47,583) (589) (49,336) - (97,508)
Net book amount - �55,654 ��,03� �70,7�9 3,84�,767 4,�90,�8�

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077
Opening net book amount - �55,654 ��,03� �70,7�9 3,84�,767 4,�90,�8�
Additions - �0,679 - - 707,745 7�8,4�4
Disposals - (�,409) - - - (�,409)
Plantation costs written off - - - - (�40,8�5) (�40,8�5)
Reclassified from assets held for sale 973,733 - - - - 973,733
Depreciation charge - (43,78�) (565) (64,0�3) - (�08,360)
Closing net book amount 973,733 �3�,�4� ��,466 �06,7�6 4,308,687 5,64�,744

AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077
Cost 973,733 ��9,875 ��,6�0 3�0,065 4,308,687 5,844,980
Accumulated depreciation - (88,733) (�,�54) (��3,349) - (�03,�36)
Net book amount 973,733 �3�,�4� ��,466 �06,7�6 4,308,687 5,64�,744

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June �008

�5 NON-CURRENT ASSETS -  PROPERTY,  PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cont inued)

PPaarreenntt PPllaanntt  aanndd  LLeeaasseehhoolldd  TToottaall
eeqquuiippmmeenntt iimmpprroovveemmeennttss

$$ $$ $$

AAtt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000066
Cost 36,555 ��,6�0 59,�75
Accumulated depreciation (�8,�47) (589) (�8,736)
Net book amount �8,408 ��,03� 40,439

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077
Opening net book amount �8,408 ��,03� 40,439
Additions 4,�96 - 4,�96
Depreciation charge (6,48�) (565) (7,046)
Closing net book amount �6,��3 ��,466 37,589

AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077
Cost 40,75� ��,6�0 63,37�
Accumulated depreciation (�4,6�8) (�,�54) (�5,78�)
Net book amount �6,��3 ��,466 37,589

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088
Opening net book amount �6,��3 ��,466 37,589
Additions �4,99� - �4,99�
Depreciation charge (6,673) (566) (7,�39)
Closing net book amount �4,44� �0,900 45,34�

AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088
Cost 55,74� ��,6�0 78,36�
Accumulated depreciation (3�,30�) (�,7�0) (33,0��)
Net book amount �4,44� �0,900 45,34�

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd FFrreeeehhoolldd PPllaanntt  aanndd  LLeeaasseehhoolldd  LLeeaasseedd  ppllaanntt  CCaarrbboonn  ssiinnkkss TToottaall
llaanndd eeqquuiippmmeenntt iimmpprroovveemmeennttss &&  eeqquuiippmmeenntt

$$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088
Opening net book amount 973,733 �3�,�4� ��,466 �06,7�6 4,308,687 5,64�,744
Additions - 6�,7�7 ��6,76� �07,737 ��,068 408,�94
Plantation costs written off - - - - (��8,��5) (��8,��5)
Depreciation charge - (47,56�) (566) (73,36�) (��,059) (�33,547)
Closing net book amount 973,733 �46,308 �37,66� �4�,09� 4,�89,48� 5,788,�76

AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088
Cost 973,733 �8�,60� �39,38� 4�7,80� 4,�0�,540 6,��5,058
Accumulated depreciation - (�36,�94) (�,7�0) (�86,709) (��,059) (336,78�)
Net book amount 973,733 �46,308 �37,66� �4�,09� 4,�89,48� 5,788,�76
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�6 NON-CURRENT ASSETS -  DEFERRED TAX ASSETS

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$
TThhee  bbaallaannccee  ccoommpprriisseess  tteemmppoorraarryy  
ddiiffffeerreenncceess  aattttrriibbuuttaabbllee  ttoo::

Tax losses �,595,9�6 �,�87,�57 705,399 396,�75
Provisions �07,993 65,��8 83,467 58,63�
Accrued income (856,473) - - -
Accruals 34,8�� �5,340 �0,570 �0,356
Available-for-sale investment (64,088) (��9,�64) (64,088) (��9,�64)
Depreciable software 5,�8� - �,958 -
Accrued interest (7,386) - (950) -
Deferred income 399,647 - - -
Net deferred tax assets �,��5,7�3 �,�38,55� 747,356 335,999

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$
MMoovveemmeennttss::

Opening balance at � July �,�38,55� �,�90,07� 335,999 408,80�
Credited/(charged) to the income statement (note 8) �,��7,0�4 �38,446 347,�69 �55,54�
Credited/(charged) to equity (note �4) 64,088 (��9,�64) 64,088 (��9,�64)
Tax losses converted to R&D tax-offset (�03,940) (�60,803) - -
Tax losses transferred from members of the 
consolidated group - - - (99,�80)
Closing balance at 30 June �,��5,7�3 �,�38,55� 747,356 335,999

Deferred tax assets to be recovered after
more than �� months �,��5,7�3 �,�38,55� 747,356 335,999

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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�6 NON-CURRENT ASSETS -  DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (cont inued)

MMoovveemmeennttss  --  PPaarreenntt TTaaxx PPrroovviissiioonnss AAccccrruuaallss  SSooffttwwaarree AAccccrruueedd TToottaall
lloosssseess iinnccoommee  &&

aavvaaiillaabbllee--ffoorr
--ssaallee

iinnvveessttmmeennttss
$$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$

AAtt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000066 357,855 44,8�7 6,36� - (�3�) 408,80�
Charged/(credited) to the income 
statement �37,500 �3,8�5 3,994 - �3� �55,54�
Charged directly to equity - - - - (��9,�64) (��9,�64)
Assumption of tax losses from tax 
consolidated entities (99,�80) - - - - (99,�80)
AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077 396,�75 58,63� �0,356 - (��9,�64) 335,999

AAtt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000077 396,�75 58,63� �0,356 - (��9,�64) 335,999
Charged/(credited) to the income 
statement 309,��4 �4,835 �0,��4 - 38 347,�69
Charged directly to equity - - - - 64,088 64,088
AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 705,399 83,467 �0,570 - (65,038) 747,356

MMoovveemmeennttss  --  CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd TTaaxx PPrroovviissiioonnss IInntteerreesstt AAccccrruuaallss  DDeeffeerrrreedd PPrrooppeerrttyy AAccccrruueedd TToottaall
lloosssseess bbeeaarriinngg iinnccoommee ppllaanntt  && iinnccoommee  &&

lliiaabbiilliittiieess eeqquuiippmmeenntt aavvaaiillaabbllee--ffoorr
--ssaallee

iinnvveessttmmeennttss
$$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$

AAtt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000066 �,��8,877 54,055 8�,637 7,�40 - (8�,505) (�3�) �,�90,07�
Charged/(credited) to the 
income statement ��9,083 ��,�63 (8�,637) 8,�00 - 8�,505 �3� �38,446
Charged directly to equity - - - - - - (��9,�64) (��9,�64)
Tax losses converted to R&D 
tax-offset (�60,803) - - - - - - (�60,803)
AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077 �,�87,�57 65,��8 - �5,340 - - (��9,�64) �,�38,55�

AAtt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000077 �,�87,�57 65,��8 - �5,340 - - (��9,�64) �,�38,55�
Charged/(credited) to the
income statement �,6��,699 4�,775 - �9,48� 399,647 5,�8� (86�,87�) �,��7,0�4

Charged directly to equity - - - - - - 64,088 64,088
Tax losses transferred from 
members of the consolidated 
group (�03,940) - - - - - - (�03,940)
AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088 �,595,9�6 �07,993 - 34,8�� 399,647 5,�8� (9�7,947) �,��5,7�3
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�7 NON-CURRENT ASSETS -  INTANGIBLE ASSETS

�8 CURRENT L IABIL IT IES  -  TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd NNGGAACC TToottaall
aaccccrreeddiittaattiioonn

$$ $$

AAtt  ��  JJuullyy  ��000066
Cost 408,380 408,380
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - -
Net book amount 408,380 408,380

Opening net book amount 408,380 408,380
AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000077
Cost 408,380 408,380
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - -
Net book amount 408,380 408,380

YYeeaarr  eennddeedd  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088
Opening net book amount 408,380 408,380
Amortisation charge ** (�,35�) (�,35�)
Closing net book amount 407,0�9 407,0�9

AAtt  3300  JJuunnee  ��000088
Cost 408,380 408,380
Accumulated amortisation and impairment (�,35�) (�,35�)
Net book amount 407,0�9 407,0�9

** Amortisation of $�,35� (�007: $Nil) is included in depreciation and amortisation expense in the income statement.

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Trade payables 7�7,�36 774,499 ��9,�05 �7�,654
Accrued expenses ��6,077 �06,��0 68,565 34,5�4
PAYG payable 65,936 76,348 3�,3�4 30,�73
Goods and services tax (GST) payable �07,�0� 945 - -
Amounts due to related companies - - ��8,800 �30,405

�,006,�50 �,058,0�� 447,894 466,756

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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�0 CURRENT L IABIL IT IES  -  PROVIS IONS

�9 CURRENT L IABIL IT IES  -  BORROWINGS

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

SSeeccuurreedd  ((nnoottee  ����  ((aa))))
Lease liabilities (note �7) �43,7�8 9�,�39 - -
Commercial bill (note ��(a)) 639,�58 639,�58 639,�58 639,�58
Total secured current borrowings 78�,976 730,397 639,�58 639,�58

Total current borrowings 78�,976 730,397 639,�58 639,�58

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Employee benefits 359,977 �36,0�8 �78,��3 �95,439
359,977 �36,0�8 �78,��3 �95,439

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Long service leave obligation expected to be 
settled after �� months 76,447 - 58,59� -

(a) Securityandfairvaluedisclosures
Information about the terms and conditions of major borrowings, details of the security relating to each of the secured liabilities
and the fair value of each of the borrowings is provided in note ��.

(b) Riskexposures
Details of the Group's exposure to risks arising from current and non-current borrowings are set out in note �.

((aa)) AAmmoouunnttss  nnoott  eexxppeecctteedd  ttoo  bbee  sseettttlleedd  wwiitthhiinn  tthhee  nneexxtt  ����  mmoonntthhss  

The current provision for long service leave includes all unconditional entitlements where employees have completed the
required period of service and also those where employees are entitled to pro-rata payments in certain circumstances. The
entire amount is presented as current, since the Group does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement. However,
based on past experience, the Group does not expect all employees to take the full amount of accrued long service leave or
require payment within the next �� months. The following amounts reflect leave that is not expected to be taken or paid within
the next �� months.



((aa)) SSeeccuurreedd  lliiaabbiilliittiieess  aanndd  aasssseettss  pplleeddggeedd  aass  sseeccuurriittyy  

The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows:

The commercial bill of the parent entity is secured by first mortgages over the Group’s freehold land. The commercial bill is
renewed monthly.  Refer to note �9.

Lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets recognised in the financial statements revert to the
lessor in the event of default.

The Group has a $80,000 (�007: $80,000) facility on its company credit cards and has been required to provide a guarantee
facility of $33,487 (�007: $�5,3�6) in respect of office leases. The Group maintains a term deposit with the bank to secure these
facilities.
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�� CURRENT L IABIL IT IES  -  DEFERRED INCOME

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Deferred income �,33�,�56 386,5�6 - -
�,33�,�56 386,5�6 - -

Deferred income relates to payments received in advance for incomplete carbon sink projects. 

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$
Secured
Lease liabilities (note �7) 78,94� ��6,946 - -
Total secured non-current borrowings 78,94� ��6,946 - -

Total non-current borrowings 78,94� ��6,946 - -

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Lease liabilities ���,659 ��8,085 - -
Commercial bill 639,�58 639,�58 639,�58 639,�58
Total secured liabilities 86�,9�7 857,343 639,�58 639,�58

�� NON-CURRENT L IABIL IT IES  -  BORROWINGS

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008



((bb)) RRiisskk  eexxppoossuurreess

Information about the Group’s and parent entity’s exposure to interest rate and foreign currency changes is provided in note �.
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�� NON-CURRENT L IABIL IT IES  -  BORROWINGS (cont inued)

PPaarreenntt  eennttiittyy PPaarreenntt  eennttiittyy

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

NNuummbbeerr  ooff NNuummbbeerr  ooff $$ $$
sshhaarreess sshhaarreess

((aa)) SShhaarree  ccaappiittaall
Ordinary shares

Fully paid �76,���,��� ��8,674,7�3 �9,989,558 �6,854,795
Convertible preference shares 30,483,5�3 76,985,430 305 770

306,594,644 305,660,�43 �9,989,863 �6,855,565

�3 ISSUED CAP ITAL

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

NNootteess $$ $$ $$ $$

Current
Deposits at call 9c ��3,487 �05,3�6 �05,3�6 �05,3�6

Total current assets pledged as security ��3,487 �05,3�6 �05,3�6 �05,3�6

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt
First mortgage

Freehold land and buildings �5 973,733 973,733 - -
Finance lease

Plant and equipment �5 �4�,09� �06,7�6 - -
Total non-current assets pledged as security �,��4,8�5 �,�80,449 - -

Total assets pledged as security �,3�8,3�� �,�85,775 �05,3�6 �05,3�6

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings are:
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�3 ISSUED CAP ITAL (cont inued)

((bb)) MMoovveemmeennttss  iinn  oorrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarree  ccaappiittaall::

DDaattee DDeettaaiillss NNuummbbeerr  ooff  sshhaarreess $$

� July �006 Opening balance �98,083,509 ��,750,0�7
6 November �006 Conversion of convertible preference shares ���,��� 7,���
� March �007 Exercise listed options 8,500 �,0�0
3 April �007 Conversion of convertible preference shares ��,347,904 �,387,6�4
�0 April �007 Issuance of shares 8,�9�,�89 �,6��,585
30 April �007 Conversion of convertible preference shares 444,444 �8,889
�5 June �007 Exercise listed options 389,057 46,688
�9 June �007 Exercise listed options 60,000 7,�00
�8 June �007 Exercise listed options 37,999 4,560
30 June �007 Closing balance ��8,674,7�3 �6,854,795

� July �007 Opening balance ��8,674,7�3 �6,854,795
6 July �007 Exercise listed options ��0,000 �3,�00
�� July �007 Exercise listed options �5�,600 �8,3��
6 August �007 Exercise listed options �6�,00� �9,440
�4 September �007 Conversion of convertible preference shares �5,000,00� 975,000
4 October �007 Conversion of convertible preference shares �,000,000 �30,000
�5 October �007 Conversion of convertible preference shares 88,889 5,778
5 December �007 Conversion of convertible preference shares �,000,000 65,000
�� December �007 Exercise listed options 450,000 54,000
�0 January �008 Conversion of convertible preference shares �5,386,983 �,000,�54
8 February �008 Conversion of convertible preference shares �3,0�6,034 846,69�
�6 June �008 Exercise listed options 59,900 7,�88
30 June �008 Closing balance �76,���,��� �9,989,558

((cc)) MMoovveemmeennttss  iinn  ccoonnvveerrttiibbllee  pprreeffeerreennccee  sshhaarree  ccaappiittaall::

DDaattee DDeettaaiillss NNuummbbeerr  ooff  sshhaarreess $$

30 June �006 Opening balance 98,888,889 988
6 November �006 Conversion to ordinary shares (���,���) (�)
3 April �007 Conversion to ordinary shares (��,347,904) (��3)
30 April �007 Conversion to ordinary shares (444,444) (4)
30 June �007 Closing balance 76,985,430 770

30 June �007 Opening balance 76,985,430 770
�4 September �007 Conversion to ordinary shares (�5,000,00�) (�50)
4 October �007 Conversion to ordinary shares (�,000,000) (�9)
�5 October �007 Conversion to ordinary shares (88,889) (�)
5 December �007 Conversion to ordinary shares (�,000,000) (�0)
�0 January �008 Conversion to ordinary shares (�5,386,983) (�54)
8 February �008 Conversion to ordinary shares (�3,0�6,034) (�30)
30 June �008 Closing balance 30,483,5�3 306

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008



(d) Convertiblepreferenceshares
The convertible preference shares were issued at $0.0000�.  To convert to fully paid ordinary shares each holder is required to
pay $0.06499.  Conversion can occur at any time at the election of the holders.

The convertible preference shares have limited voting rights as described in ASX Listing Rule 6.3 and are entitled to the
payment of a dividend equal to one hundred thousandth of any dividends declared.

(e) Options
Information relating to the Group's Employee Option Plan and options issued to employees and executives of the Group,
including details of options issued, exercised and lapsed during the financial year and options outstanding at the end of the
financial year, is set out in note 33.

In total the Group had in issue �56,�9�,688 (�007: �57,��7,�89) listed share options and ��,000,000 (�007: 6,000,000) unlisted
share options at 30 June �008.  In addition, 3,000,000 options have been granted but have not been issued.

(f) Capitalriskmanagement
The Group's and the parent entity's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard their ability to continue as a going
concern, so that they can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

56

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June �008

�3 ISSUED CAP ITAL (cont inued)

�4 RESERVES

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

((aa)) RReesseerrvveess
Share-based payments reserve 4,083,460 3,3�5,5�7 4,083,460 3,3�5,5�7
Option premium reserve �,670,705 �,670,705 �,670,705 �,670,705
Financial assets revaluation reserve �00,9�� 30�,383 �00,9�� 30�,383

5,855,087 5,�87,605 5,855,087 5,�87,605

MMoovveemmeennttss::
Share-based payments reserve

Balance � July 3,3�5,5�7 �,843,956 3,3�5,5�7 �,843,956
Equity-settled share-based payment 767,943 47�,56� 767,943 47�,56�
Balance 30 June 4,083,460 3,3�5,5�7 4,083,460 3,3�5,5�7

Option premium reserve
Balance � July �,670,705 �,670,705 �,670,705 �,670,705
Balance 30 June �,670,705 �,670,705 �,670,705 �,670,705

Financial assets revaluation reserve
Balance � July 30�,383 - 30�,383 -
Gain on revaluation (net of deferred tax) �46,�47 30�,383 �46,�47 30�,383
Transfer to profit and loss on sale of available- 
for-sale investments (495,�55) - (495,�55) -
Deferred tax liability crystallised on sale of available-
for-sale investments �48,547 - �48,547 -
Balance 30 June �00,9�� 30�,383 �00,9�� 30�,383



((bb)) NNaattuurree  aanndd  ppuurrppoossee  ooff  rreesseerrvveess

(i) Share-basedpaymentsreserve
The share- based payments reserve is used to recognise:

• the fair value of options issued to employees but not exercised
• the fair value of shares issued to employees
• in the parent entity - the fair value of shares and options issued to employees of subsidiaries.

(ii) optionpremium
The option premium represents the fair value of 47,734,4�� CO� Group Limited options issued as part consideration for the
Ranger takeover bid in relation to unconditional acceptances received by the consolidated entity pursuant to the acceptances
received under the Ranger takeover offer.

(iii) Financialassetsrevaluationreserve
Changes in the fair value of assets classified as available-for-sale financial assets are taken to the financial assets revaluation
reserve.  Amounts are recognised in profit and loss when the associated assets are sold or impaired.

(a) Directors
The following persons were directors of CO� Group Limited during the financial year:

(i) chairman-executive
I N Trahar

(ii) Executivedirectors
H R Whitcombe
J McAuliffe (resigned �8 December �007)
A W T Grant (Chief Executive Officer)

(iii) non-executivedirectors
Dr M B Hemmerling
Dr C D Mitchell
P Favretto (from �8 December �007)

(b) Otherkeymanagementpersonnel
The following persons also had authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group,
directly or indirectly, during the financial year:

NNaammee PPoossiittiioonn EEmmppllooyyeerr

A J Soanes Director and General Manager Operations CO� Australia Limited

A Shilkin Chief Financial Officer, CO� Australia Limited CO� Australia Limited

Dr J Bulinski Director CO� Australia Limited

All of the above persons were also key management persons during the year ended 30 June �007 and 30 June �008, except for
Dr J Bulinski who was appointed as a director of CO� Australia Limited on �0 November �007.
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�4 RESERVES (cont inued)

�5 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES
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(d) Equityinstrumentdisclosuresrelatingtokeymanagementpersonnel
(i) optionholdings
The numbers of options over ordinary shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of CO� Group
Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.

�5 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (cont inued)

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Short-term employee benefits �,390,0�� �,�53,�35 9�5,37� 895,905
Post-employment benefits �57,80� �30,535 ��9,488 �07,383
Long-term benefits 6�,743 - 54,355 -
Share-based payments 767,943 �07,��� 767,943 �33,93�

�,378,509 �,490,88� �,867,�58 �,�37,��0

��000088 BBaallaannccee  aatt GGrraanntteedd  aass EExxeerrcciisseedd OOtthheerr BBaallaannccee  aatt VVeesstteedd  aanndd UUnnvveesstteedd
ssttaarrtt  ooff  tthhee ccoommppeennssaattiioonn cchhaannggeess eenndd  ooff  tthhee eexxeerrcciissaabbllee

yyeeaarr yyeeaarr

NNaammee $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$

DDiirreeccttoorrss  ooff  CCOO��  GGrroouupp  LLiimmiitteedd
I N Trahar 67,737,796 - - - 67,737,796 67,737,796 - 
H R Whitcombe 4,�45,�57 4,�45,�57 4,�45,�57 - 
A W T Grant 5,697,7�� 9,000,000 - (�,404,068) �3,�93,654 7,�93,654 6,000,000
M B Hemmerling �,500,000 - - �,500,000 �,500,000 - 
C D Mitchell �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000 - 
P J Favretto (appointed �8 
December �007) 6,008,0�7 - - - 6,008,0�7 6,008,0�7 -
J McAuliffe (resigned �8 
December �007) �,666,668 - - - �,666,668 �,666,668 - 

OOtthheerr  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell
ooff  tthhee  GGrroouupp

A J Soanes �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000 - 
A Shilkin �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000 - 
J Bulinksi �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000 -

All vested options are exercisable at any time.

Mr Favretto held 6,008,0�7 options at the date of his appointment.  Mr McAuliffe held �,666,668 options at the date of his
resignation.

��000077 BBaallaannccee  aatt GGrraanntteedd  aass EExxeerrcciisseedd OOtthheerr BBaallaannccee  aatt VVeesstteedd  aanndd UUnnvveesstteedd
ssttaarrtt  ooff  tthhee ccoommppeennssaattiioonn cchhaannggeess eenndd  ooff  tthhee eexxeerrcciissaabbllee

yyeeaarr yyeeaarr

NNaammee $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$ $$

DDiirreeccttoorrss  ooff  CCOO��  GGrroouupp  LLiimmiitteedd
I N Trahar 67,737,796 - - - 67,737,796 67,737,796 - 
J McAuliffe �,666,668 - - - �,666,668 �,666,668 - 
H R Whitcombe 4,735,�57 - - (590,000) 4,�45,�57 4,�45,�57 - 
A W T Grant 6,79�,008 - - (�,093,�86) 5,697,7�� 5,697,7�� - 
M B Hemmerling �,500,000 - - - �,500,000 �,500,000 - 
C D Mitchell �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000 -
OOtthheerr  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell    
ooff  tthhee  GGrroouupp

A J Soanes �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 680,000 3�0,000
A Shilkin �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000 - 
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��000088 BBaallaannccee  aatt RReecceeiivveedd  dduurriinngg OOtthheerr  cchhaannggeess BBaallaannccee  aatt
ssttaarrtt  ooff  tthhee tthhee  yyeeaarr  oonn  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr eenndd  ooff  tthhee  

yyeeaarr eexxeerrcciissee  ooff  ooppttiioonnss yyeeaarr
NNaammee

DDiirreeccttoorrss  ooff  CCOO��  GGrroouupp  LLiimmiitteedd

OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess
I N Trahar 83,��8,5�9 - 33,6�3,0�7 ��6,83�,546
H R Whitcombe 3,798,876 - 3,8�5,80� 7,6�4,677
M B Hemmerling 60,000 - - 60,000
C D Mitchell - - - -
A W T Grant - - - -
P J Favretto (appointed �8 December �007) 8,7�9,�57 �,333,333 �0,06�,490
J McAuliffe (resigned �8 December �007) 3,348,96� - - 3,348,96�

CCoonnvveerrttiibbllee  pprreeffeerreennccee  sshhaarreess

I N Trahar 34,6�3,0�7 - (34,6�3,0�7) -
H R Whitcombe 5,000,00� - (5,000,00�) -
P J Favretto (appointed �8 December �007) �,333,333 - (�,333,333) -
OOtthheerr  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  ooff  tthhee  GGrroouupp
OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess

A J Soanes - - - -
A Shilkin - - - -
J Bulinski - - - -

��000077 BBaallaannccee  aatt RReecceeiivveedd  dduurriinngg OOtthheerr  cchhaannggeess BBaallaannccee  aatt
ssttaarrtt  ooff  tthhee tthhee  yyeeaarr  oonn  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee  yyeeaarr eenndd  ooff  tthhee  

yyeeaarr eexxeerrcciissee  ooff  ooppttiioonnss yyeeaarr
NNaammee

DDiirreeccttoorrss  ooff  CCOO��  GGrroouupp  LLiimmiitteedd

OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess
I N Trahar 67,737,796 - �5,480,733 83,��8,5�9
J McAuliffe �,666,668 - �,68�,�93 3,348,96�
H R Whitcombe 4,35�,070 - (553,�94) 3,798,876
M B Hemmerling 60,000 - - 60,000
C D Mitchell - - - -
A W T Grant - - - -

CCoonnvveerrttiibbllee  pprreeffeerreennccee  sshhaarreess
I N Trahar 50,000,000 - (�5,386,983) 34,6�3,0�7
H R Whitcombe 5,555,557 - (555,556) 5,000,00�
J McAuliffe �,666,668 - (�,666,668) - 
OOtthheerr  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell  ooff  tthhee  GGrroouupp
OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess
A J Soanes - - - -
A Shilkin - - - -

�5 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (cont inued)

(ii) Shareholdings
The numbers of shares in the company held during the financial year by each director of CO� Group Limited and other key
management personnel of the Group, including their personally related parties, are set out below.  There were no shares
granted during the reporting period as compensation.  Mr Favretto's and Mr McAuliffe's opening and closing balances
(respectively) refer to the date of their appointment and resignation being �8 December �007.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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BBaallaannccee  aatt IInntteerreesstt  ppaaiidd IInntteerreesstt  nnoott BBaallaannccee  aatt  tthhee NNuummbbeerr  iinn
tthhee  ssttaarrtt  ooff  tthhee aanndd  ppaayyaabbllee cchhaarrggeedd eenndd  ooff  tthhee GGrroouupp  aatt  tthhee

yyeeaarr ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr yyeeaarr eenndd  ooff  tthhee
yyeeaarr

$$ $$ $$ $$ $$

��000088 - - - - -
�007 �4,000 - �,�60 - -

�5 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL DISCLOSURES (cont inued)

�6 REMUNERATION OF AUDITORS

During the year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by the auditor of the parent entity, its related
practices and non-related audit firms:

(e) Loanstokeymanagementpersonnel
Details of loans made to directors of CO� Group Limited and other key management personnel of the Group, including their
personally related parties, are set out below.

(i) aggregatesforkeymanagementpersonnel

The amounts shown for interest not charged in the table above represent the difference between the amount paid and payable
for the year and the amount of interest that would have been charged on an arm’s-length basis.

No write-downs or allowances for doubtful receivables have been recognised in relation to any loans made to key management
personnel.

((ff)) OOtthheerr  ttrraannssaaccttiioonnss  wwiitthh  kkeeyy  mmaannaaggeemmeenntt  ppeerrssoonnnneell

(i) directorsofco2Grouplimited
A director, Mr I N Trahar, is a director and shareholder of Avatar Industries Limited, which paid the Group for staff and occupancy
costs at the Group's head office until December �007.  

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077

$$ $$

AAmmoouunnttss  rreeccooggnniisseedd  aass  rreevveennuuee
Office and administrative services �4,5�9 7�,635

�4,5�9 7�,635

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

(a) Audit services
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Audit and review of financial reports 9�,875 58,750 9�,875 58,750
Total remuneration for audit services 9�,875 58,750 9�,875 58,750



6�

�7 COMMITMENTS

(i) operatingleases
Operating leases relate to four office facilities, each with different terms: 7 years with no option to renew;  3 years with � options
for a further 3 years; �.5 years with no option to renew; and � year with an option for a further year.  The operating lease
contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the Group exercises its option to renew.  There are also fixed increase
dates annually. The Group does not have an option to purchase the leased asset at the expiry of the lease period.

The Group also leases two motor vehicles under operating leases with a term of three years, with no option to purchase the
vehicle at the expiry of the lease period.

�8 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Parententities
The parent entity within the Group and the ultimate Australian parent entity is CO� Group Limited.  

(b) Subsidiaries
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in note �9.

(ii) Financeleases
Finance leases relate to motor vehicles with lease terms of 3 years. The Group has options to purchase the motor vehicles for a
nominal amount at the conclusion of the lease arrangement.

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Commitments for minimum lease payments in relation 
to non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:
Within one year 400,804 �70,84� �98,750 �34,806
Later than one year but not later than five years �,��5,6�� ��,500 795,000 -
Later than five years 397,500 - 397,500 -
Commitments not recognised in the financial statements �,9�3,9�5 �83,34� �,39�,�50 �34,806

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Commitments in relation to finance leases are payable
as follows:

Within one year �54,305 �06,48� - -
Later than one year but not later than five years 83,84� �30,��� - -
Minimum lease payments �38,�46 �36,703 - -

Future finance charges (�5,487) (�8,6�8) - -
Recognised as a liability ���,659 ��8,085 - -

Total lease liabilities ���,659 ��8,085 - -

Representing lease liabilities:
Current (note �9) �43,7�8 9�,�39 - -
Non-current (note ��) 78,94� ��6,946 - -

���,659 ��8,085 - -

The weighted average interest rate implicit in the leases is 8.�% (�007 - 7.8%).

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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�8 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

�9 SUBSIDIARIES

(d) Keymanagementpersonnel

Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in note �5.

(e) Transactionswithotherrelatedparties

The following transactions occurred with other related parties:

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in accordance
with the accounting policy described in note �(b):

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Office and administrative services 39,5�9 7�,635 39,5�9 7�,635
39,5�9 7�,635 39,5�9 7�,635

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$
Tax consolidation legislation
Tax losses assumed from wholly-owned tax 
consolidated entities - - - 99,�80

- - - 99,�80

(c) Othertransactionswithkeymanagementpersonnelorentitiesrelatedtothem
A director, Mr I N Trahar, is a director of Avatar Industries Limited.  CO� Group Limited has provided office and administrative
services in respect of its Perth office to Avatar Industries Limited.

A former director, Mr J McAuliffe, is a director and shareholder of Western Australian Resources Limited, which paid the Group
for staff and occupancy costs at the Group's Head office.

NNaammee  ooff  eennttiittyy CCoouunnttrryy  ooff EEqquuiittyy  hhoollddiinngg

IInnccoorrppoorraattiioonn ��000088 ��000077
%% %%

CO� Australia Limited * Australia �00 �00
Carbon Banc Limited * Australia �00 �00
Carbon Estate Pty Ltd Australia �00 �00
Australian Carbon Sinks Limited * Australia �00 �00
Mallee Land Company Pty Ltd Australia �00 �00
Mallee Carbon Limited * Australia �00 �00
Blue Leafed Mallee Limited * Australia �00 �00
Carbon Sinks Services Pty Ltd Australia 97 96

* These subsidiaries have been granted relief from the necessity to prepare financial reports in accordance with Class
Order 98/�4�8 issued by the Australian Securities and Investments Commission.  For further information refer to note 30.
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30 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE

CO� Group Limited, CO� Australia Limited, Carbon Banc Limited, Australian Carbon Sinks Limited, Mallee Carbon Limited and
Blue-Leafed Mallee Limited are parties to a deed of cross guarantee under which each company guarantees the debts of the
others. By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare a financial
report and directors’ report under Class Order 98/�4�8 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments
Commission.

(a) Consolidatedincomestatementandasummaryofmovementsinconsolidatedretainedprofits
The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties to the
Deed of Cross Guarantee that are controlled by CO� Group Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed Group’.

Set out below is a consolidated income statement and a summary of movements in consolidated retained profits for the year
ended 30 June �008 of the Closed Group consisting of CO� Group Limited, CO� Australia Limited, Carbon Banc Limited,
Australian Carbon Sinks Limited, Mallee Carbon Limited and Blue-Leafed Mallee Limited.

(b) Balancesheet
Set out below is a consolidated balance sheet as at 30 June �008 of the Closed Group consisting of CO� Group Limited, CO�
Australia Limited, Carbon Banc Limited, Australian Carbon Sinks Limited, Mallee Carbon Limited and Blue-Leafed Mallee Limited.

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077

$$ $$
IInnccoommee  ssttaatteemmeenntt
RReevveennuuee  ffrroomm  ccoonnttiinnuuiinngg  ooppeerraattiioonnss ��,078,589 3,967,446
Other income �,63�,7�4 �,388,544
Employee benefits expense (�,986,307) (�,�45,49�)
Depreciation and amortisation expense (98,9�8) (77,590)
Consulting expense (��0,68�) (�4�,899)
Finance costs (70,70�) (40,�49)
Legal fees (39�,677) (577,867)
Travel (3�4,870) (�30,563)
Insurance (7�,794) (66,958)
Rent (�67,954) (�58,759)
Research & development (34,307) (48,�3�)
Other expenses (6��,3�3) (567,344)
Plantation costs (6,��7,9�9) (�,880,70�)
PPrrooffiitt  ((lloossss))  bbeeffoorree  iinnccoommee  ttaaxx �,50�,85� (�,680,56�)
Income tax (expense) benefit (37�,00�) �53,5�5
PPrrooffiitt  ((lloossss))  ffoorr  tthhee  yyeeaarr �,�30,849 (�,5�7,037)

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077

$$ $$
CCuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss
Cash and cash equivalents 3,993,�75 �,978,775
Trade and other receivables �,�30,776 �,57�,057
Inventories �,589,76� �,�73,763
Other current assets �09,0�7 46,036
Accrued income �,854,908 -
Total current assets ��,777,737 6,769,63�

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  aasssseettss
Other financial assets - investments 9,345,5�5 7,7�8,754
Property, plant and equipment 3,780,58� 3,640,593
Deferred tax assets 6�6,697 34�,6�4
Intangible assets 407,0�9 408,380
Total non-current assets �4,�59,8�3 ��,��9,34�

TToottaall  aasssseettss �5,937,560 �8,888,97�

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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30 DEED OF CROSS GUARANTEE (cont inued)

3� RECONCILIATION OF LOSS AFTER INCOME TAX TO NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVIT IES

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077

$$ $$
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 583,975 4�4,�4�
Borrowings 78�,976 730,397
Provisions 3�3,3�4 ��7,393
Deferred income �,33�,�56 386,5�6
Total current liabilities 3,0��,4�� �,758,458

NNoonn--ccuurrrreenntt  lliiaabbiilliittiieess
Borrowings 78,94� ��6,946
TToottaall  lliiaabbiilliittiieess 3,�0�,36� �,885,404

NNeett  aasssseettss ��,836,�98 �7,003,568

EEqquuiittyy
Issued capital �9,989,863 �6,855,564
Reserves 5,855,088 5,�87,605
Accumulated losses (�3,008,753) (�5,�39,60�)
TToottaall  eeqquuiittyy ��,836,�98 �7,003,568

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Profit (loss) for the year �,573,�7� (3,685,784) (�,54�,484) (�,554,339)
Depreciation and amortisation �34,899 �08,360 7,�39 7,046
Related party receipts (43,47�) (79,899) (43,47�) (79,899)
Proceeds from repayment of inter-company loans - - (599,�9�) (6�8,047)
(Increase) decrease in amounts due under tax 
funding arrangement - - - (99,�80)
Equity-settled share-based payments 767,943 47�,56� 767,943 47�,56�
Interest income received (�87,�46) (�57,5��) (�05,8��) (�46,555)
Change in operating assets and liabilities

(Increase) decrease in trade debtors and receivables (�67,5��) 473,5�4 �4,037 49,535
Decrease (Increase) in inventories (�,380,085) (888,433) - -
(Increase) decrease in other non-current assets - �4,000 - �4,000
(Increase) decrease in deferred tax assets (�,48�,638) ��,358 (8�6,835) (56,358)
(Increase) decrease in other operating assets (�,888,657) (�7,6�0) 8,5�7 �0,�39
(Increase) decrease in current assets held for sale - �,08�,047 - -
(Decrease) increase in trade creditors (5�,763) 477,769 (�7,�54) ���,63�
(Decrease) increase in other operating liabilities 945,630 (�,7�3,474) - -
Increase (decrease) in other provisions ��3,959 56,46� 8�,784 46,05�
Increase (decrease) in loans 4,574 (57,370) - -

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities (�,75�,�05) (4,885,03�) (�,�43,5�8) (�,843,4�3)



(c) Reconciliationsofearningsusedincalculatingearningspershare

(d) Weightedaveragenumberofsharesusedasthedenominator
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3� EARNINGS PER SHARE

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077
CCeennttss CCeennttss

((aa)) BBaassiicc  eeaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree

From continuing operations 0.6� (�.79)
Total basic earnings per share 0.6� (�.79)

((bb)) DDiilluutteedd  eeaarrnniinnggss  ppeerr  sshhaarree

From continuing operations 0.38 (�.79)
Total diluted earnings per share 0.38 (�.79)

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077

$$ $$

Basic earnings per share
Profit (loss) from continuing operations �,573,�7� (3,685,784)
Profit (loss) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating 
basic earnings per share �,573,�7� (3,685,784)

Diluted earnings per share
Profit (loss) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating 
basic earnings per share �,573,�7� (3,685,784)
Profit (loss) attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the company used in calculating 
diluted earnings per share �,573,�7� (3,685,784)

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077

NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used as the denominator in calculating basic 
earnings per share �55,3�3,08� �05,075,6�6
Shares deemed to be issued for no consideration in respect of share options and convertible 
preference shares �59,��5,9�9 -
Weighted average number of ordinary shares and potential ordinary shares used as the 
denominator in calculating diluted earnings per share 4�4,539,0�� �05,075,6�6

(e) Informationconcerningtheclassificationofsecurities
9,500,000 share options are not dilutive and are therefore excluded from the weighted average number of ordinary shares for
the purposes of calculating diluted earnings per share.

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

GGrraanntt  DDaattee EExxppiirryy  EExxeerrcciissee  BBaallaannccee  aatt    GGrraanntteedd    EExxeerrcciisseedd  FFoorrffeeiitteedd BBaallaannccee  aatt VVeesstteedd  aanndd
ddaattee pprriiccee ssttaarrtt  ooff  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee eenndd  ooff  tthhee eexxeerrcciissaabbllee

yyeeaarr yyeeaarr yyeeaarr yyeeaarr yyeeaarr aatt  eenndd  ooff
tthhee  yyeeaarr

NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aanndd  ppaarreenntt  --  ��000088

3 September �� November
�004 �0�� $0.�� 7,400,000 - - - 7,400,000 7,400,000

�5 September �� November 
�004 �0�� $0.�� �66,667 - - - �66,667 �66,667

�5 November �� November
�004 �0�� $0.�� �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000

�6 November �6 November 
�005 �009 $0.3� �,500,000 - - - �,500,000 �,500,000

8 March �8 February 
�006 �0�� $0.33 �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000

�5 November �� November 
�006 �0�� $0.�� 300,000 - - - 300,000 300,000

�5 November �5 November 
�006 �0�0 $0.40 �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 �,000,000

�� June �� June 
�007 �0�� $0.55 500,000 - - - 500,000 500,000

8 November 3� July 
�007 �0�� $0.50 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 3,000,000

8 November 3� July 
�007 �0�� $0.60 - 3,000,000 - - 3,000,000 -

8 November 3� July 
�007 �0�� $0.70 - �,000,000 - - �,000,000 -

8 November 3� July 
�007 �0�� $0.80 - �,000,000 - - �,000,000 -

Total �4,866,667 9,000,000 - - �3,866,667 �7,866,667

Weighted average exercise price $0.�� $0.57 $- $- $0.3� $0.36

(a) EmployeeOptionPlan
The Group has an employee option plan but to date no options have been granted under this plan. Instead, the Group has
granted listed and unlisted options to certain employees under their contracts of employment.

Options granted on this basis carry no dividend or voting rights.

Once vested, the options can be exercised at any time at the discretion of the employee.

The exercise price of unlisted options is based on the weighted average price at which the company’s shares are traded on the
Australian Stock Exchange during the five trading days immediately before the options are granted.

Set out below are summaries of options granted under contracts of employment:
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33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont inued)

GGrraanntt  DDaattee EExxppiirryy  EExxeerrcciissee  BBaallaannccee  aatt    GGrraanntteedd    EExxeerrcciisseedd  FFoorrffeeiitteedd BBaallaannccee  aatt VVeesstteedd  aanndd
ddaattee pprriiccee ssttaarrtt  ooff  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee dduurriinngg  tthhee eenndd  ooff  tthhee eexxeerrcciissaabbllee

yyeeaarr yyeeaarr yyeeaarr yyeeaarr yyeeaarr aatt  eenndd  ooff
tthhee  yyeeaarr

NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr NNuummbbeerr

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd  aanndd  ppaarreenntt  --  ��000077

3 September �� November
�004 �0�� $0.�� 7,400,000 - - - 7,400,000 7,400,000

�5 September �� November 
�004 �0�� $0.�� �66,667 - - - �66,667 �66,667

�5 November �� November
�004 �0�� $0.�� �,000,000 - - - �,000,000 680,000

�6 November �6 November 
�005 �009 $0.3� - �,500,000 - - �,500,000 �,500,000

8 March �8 February 
�006 �0�� $0.33 - �,000,000 - - �,000,000 �,000,000

�5 November �� November 
�006 �0�� $0.�� - 300,000 - - 300,000 300,000

�5 November �5 November 
�006 �0�0 $0.40 - �,000,000 - - �,000,000 �,000,000

�� June �� June 
�007 �0�� $0.55 - 500,000 - - 500,000 500,000

Total 8,566,667 6,300,000 - - �4,866,667 �4,546,667

Weighted average exercise price $0.�9 $0.40 $- $- $0.�� $0.��

No options expired during the periods covered by the above tables.

The unlisted share options outstanding at the end of the financial year had a weighted average exercise price of $0.46 (�007:
$0.36) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 887 days (�007: �,0�4 days).  The listed share options outstanding
at the end of the financial year had an exercise price of $0.�� (�007: $0.��) and a weighted average remaining contractual life
of �,�30 days (�006: �,596 days).

Fairvalueofoptionsgranted
The assessed weighted average fair value at grant date of unlisted options granted during the year ended 30 June �008 was �5
cents per option (�007: �4 cents). The fair value at grant date is independently determined using a Black-Scholes option pricing
model that takes into account the exercise price, the term of the option, the impact of dilution, the share price at grant date and
expected price volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk free interest rate for the term of the
option.

The model inputs for unlisted options granted during the year ended 30 June �008 included:

(a) three series of options plus three series of a) options were granted for no consideration and are escrowed until 30 June �008,
�009 and �0�0;

(b) exercise price: $0.50, $0.60, $0.70 and $0.80;

(c) option life: until 3� July �0��; 

(d) share price at grant date: $0.37; 

(e) expected price volatility of the company’s shares: 66.�6%; and

(f) risk free interest rate: 6.39%;

CO2  GROUP L IMITED

Notes to the financial statements 30 June 2008
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33 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (cont inued)

DIRECTOR’S  DECLARATION

The expected price volatility is based on the historic volatility (based on the remaining life of the options), adjusted for any
expected changes to future volatility due to publicly available information.

Where options are issued to employees of subsidiaries within the Group, the subsidiaries compensate CO� Group Limited for
the amount recognised as expense in relation to these options.

(b) Expensesarisingfromshare-basedpaymenttransactions
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the period as part of employee benefit
expense were as follows:

CCoonnssoolliiddaatteedd PPaarreenntt

3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee 3300  JJuunnee
��000088 ��000077 ��000088 ��000077

$$ $$ $$ $$

Option expense 767,943 47�,56� 767,943 �58,���
767,943 47�,56� 767,943 �58,���

In the directors’ opinion:

(a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages �4 to 68 are in accordance with the Corporations Act �00�, including:

(i) complying with Accounting Standards, the Corporations Regulations �00� and other mandatory professional
reporting requirements; and

(ii) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity's financial position as at 30 June �008 and of their
performance for the financial year ended on that date; and

(b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that  the company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and
payable; and

(c) the audited remuneration disclosures set out on pages 9 to �5 of the directors’ report comply with Accounting Standards
AASB ��4 Related Party Disclosures and the Corporations Regulations �00�.

(d) at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group
identified in note 30 will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject by virtue of the
deed of cross guarantee described in note 30.

The directors have been given the declarations by the chief executive officer and chief financial officer required by section �95A
of the Corporations Act �00�.

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the directors.

Andrew William Thorold Grant
Director

Melbourne
�6 August �008
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CCllaassss  ooff  eeqquuiittyy  sseeccuurriittyy
OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess

SShhaarreess OOppttiioonnss

� - �000 �99 �
�,00� - 5,000 768 7
5,00� - �0,000 4�8 ��

�0,00� - �00,000 8�� 93
�00,00� and over �8� 94

�,389 ��8

There were �34 holders of less than a marketable parcel of ordinary shares.

B. Equitysecurityholders
Twenty largest quoted equity security holders
The names of the twenty largest holders of quoted equity securities are listed below:

NNaammee OOrrddiinnaarryy  sshhaarreess

NNuummbbeerr  hheelldd PPeerrcceennttaaggee  ooff  
iissssuueedd  sshhaarreess

Gabor Holdings Pty Ltd (The Tricorp A/C) �04,575,6�5 37.87
Crestpark Investments Pty Ltd �3,776,545 8.6�
Gabor Holdings Pty Ltd �0,904,046 3.95
Susan Wallwork 9,560,�88 3.46
Favcor Pty Ltd 6,88�,�9� �.49
City Lane Pty Ltd (Whitcombe Family A/C) 6,553,000 �.37
Lopez Enterprises Pty Ltd (McAuliffe Super) 3,348,960 �.��
Troy (Qld) Pty Ltd (RCG Super Fund) 3,�00,000 �.�6
Michael Thomas �,957,�0� �.07
MRC Services Pty Ltd (Cooper Family Fund A/C) �,9�8,993 �.06
Merrill Lynch (Australia) Nominees Pty Limited �,090,534 0.76
Mr Harry Carter & Mrs Judith Carter �,0�5,000 0.73
Mr Frank Albert Moore �,0�5,6�5 0.73
Colbern Fiduciary Nominees Pty Ltd �,83�,3�5 0.66
Denis Ivan Rakich (The Rakich Retirement Fund) �,698,400 0.6�
Grekar Pty Ltd Letica Super Fund A/C �,46�,596 0.53
Ms Jacqueline Mesure �,300,757 0.47
Ms Leslie Ann Tilly �,�79,750 0.46
Leisure Homes Pty Ltd (Leisure Homes Staff Super) �,��5,000 0.44
Pinnacle Superannuation Pty Ltd �,��5,6�5 0.44

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

The shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 3� July �008.

A. Distributionofequitysecurities
Analysis of numbers of equity security holders by size of holding:

CO2  GROUP L IMITED
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CO2  GROUP L IMITED

C. Substantialholders
Substantial holders in the company are set out below:

NNuummbbeerr  hheelldd PPeerrcceennttaaggee

Ordinary shares
Gabor Holdings Pty Ltd (The Tricorp A/C) �04,575,6�5 37.87%
Crestpark Investments Pty Ltd �3,776,545 8.6�%

Listed options
Gabor Holdings Pty Ltd (The Tricorp A/C) 55,560,000 35.46%
Crestpark Investments Pty Ltd ��,���,��� �4.�8%

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION (cont inued)
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.

Auditor’s Independence Declaration 

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations
Act 2001.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion:

(a) the financial report of CO2 Group Limited is in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001,
including:

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s and consolidated entity’s financial position as at 
30 June 2008 and of their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian Accounting
Interpretations) and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and 

(b) the financial report also complies with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
Note 1. 

Report on the Remuneration Report 

We have audited the Remuneration Report included on pages 9 to 15 of the directors’ report for the 
year ended 30 June 2008. The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of the Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 
2001. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

Auditor’s Opinion

In our opinion the Remuneration Report of CO2 Group Limited for the year ended 30 June 2008,
complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU

Peter Rupp 
Partner
Chartered Accountants 
Perth, 26 August 2008

7�
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